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PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
 

 
  June 30,  

2004 
 December 31,  

2003 
  (Unaudited)   

ASSETS 
Cash and equivalents $ 116,048,638 $ 4,357,069 
Restricted cash  100,434  217,330 
Marketable securities  —  3,278,753 
Due from loan purchasers  101,069,701  58,862,433 
Loans held for sale  50,684,361  36,258,229 
Prepaid and other assets  7,515,954  5,075,937 
Property and equipment, net  2,271,395  2,031,697 

     TOTAL ASSETS $ 277,690,483 $ 110,081,448 
                    
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
LIABILITIES:     

Financing arrangements $ 144,558,947 $ 90,425,133 
Due to loan purchasers  927,640  753,720 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  9,236,762  4,277,241 
Subordinated notes due to members  —  14,706,902 
Other liabilities  986,016  392,077 

     Total liabilities  155,709,365  110,555,073 
     COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 6)     
SHAREHOLDERS’/MEMBERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT):     

Common shares, $0.01 par value, 400,000,000 shares     
18,162,125 and 17,797,375 shares issued and 
outstanding, respectively, at June 30, 2004 

 
180,621 

 
— 

Additional paid- in capital  123,236,740  — 
Members’ deficit  —  (1,338,625) 
Accumulated deficit  (1,665,475)  — 
Accumulated other comprehensive income  229,232  865,000 

     Total shareholders’/members’ equity (deficit)  121,981,118  (473,625) 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
SHAREHOLDERS’/MEMBERS’ EQUITY 

 
$ 277,690,483 

 
$ 110,081,448 

                
 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

 
(unaudited) 

 
  
  

For the Six Months Ended 
June 30, 

For the Three Months  
EndedJune 30,    2004  2003  2004  2003 

REVENUE:         
Gain on sales of mortgage loans $ 10,451,171 $ 11,547,911 $ 6,945,080 $ 6,790,049 
Interest income  3,146,847  3,521,997  1,885,779  2,090,999 
Brokered loan fees  2,960,473  2,866,647  777,695  1,580,880 
Miscellaneous income  45,977  29,464  30,208  (4,727) 
         Total revenue  16,604,468  17,966,019  9,638,762  10,457,201 

         EXPENSES:         
Salaries, commissions and benefits  6,890,838  3,854,662  4,171,660  2,133,344 
Interest expense  1,814,640  1,458,952  1,206,029  807,448 
Brokered loan expenses  2,119,522  2,022,607  835,303  1,159,493 
Occupancy and equipment  1,537,517  728,144  875,987  398,937 
Marketing and promotion  1,296,391  424,341  812,105  220,283 
Data processing and communications  621,236  293,272  453,193  159,431 
Office supplies and expenses  647,240  382,219  429,369  224,365 
Professional fees  653,754  414,866  400,666  180,364 
Travel and entertainment  305,275  322,622  116,927  143,678 
Depreciation and amortization  205,906  135,506  102,953  67,753 
Income and other taxes  174,332  158,020  48,657  153,412 
Other  528,739  79,029  494,339  45,354 
         Total expenses  16,795,390  10,274,240  9,947,188  5,693,862 

         NET (LOSS) INCOME FROM 
OPERATIONS 

 
 

 
(190,922) 

 
 

 
7,691,779  (308,426)  4,763,339 

Loss on sale of securities  175,682  —  175,682  — 
         NET (LOSS) INCOME  $ (366,604) $ 7,691,779 $ (484,108) $ 4,763,339 
                                    
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.02) $ - $ (0.03) $ - 
                           Weighted average shares outstanding-
basic and diluted1 

  
17,797,375 

  
-  17,797,375  - 

                            
 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 

                                                 
1 Weighted average shares outstanding assume the shares outstanding upon the Company’s initial public offering are 
outstanding for the full respective period presented. 
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NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 
(unaudited) 

 
  
  

Six Months Ende d 
June 30, 

       2004  2003 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:     
Net (loss) income $ (366,604) $ 7,691,779 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used     
Depreciation and amortization   205,906  135,506 
Loss on sale of securities  175,682  — 
Origination of mortgage loans held for sale  (619,969,756)  (796,710,533) 
Proceeds from sales of mortgage loans  605,774,982  774,289,616 
Vesting of restricted shares-compensation expense  1,326,375  — 
Change in value of free standing derivatives  220,521  (213,519) 
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:     
Restricted cash  116,896  (4,566) 
Due from loan purchasers  (42,207,268)  (43,830,224) 
Due from affiliate  153,171  — 
Prepaid expenses and other assets  (1,147,648)  (1,265,119) 

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:     
Due to loan purchasers  173,920  (281) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  4,959,521  927,298 
Other  152,832  (122,319) 
     Net cash used in operating activities  (50,431,470)  (59,102,362) 

     CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:     
Purchase of securities  —  (835,193) 
Sale of securities  2,320,414  — 
Purchases of property and equipment  (445,604)  (483,741) 
     Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  1,874,810  (1,318,934) 

     CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:     
Proceeds from issuance of common stock  123,116,740  — 
Increase in financing arrangements, net  54,133,815  62,453,303 
Payments on subordinated notes due to members  (13,706,902)  — 
Cash distributions to members  (3,295,424)  (1,791,475) 
     Net cash provided by financing activities  160,248,229  60,661,828 

     NET INCREASE IN CASH  111,691,569  240,532 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — Beginning of period  4,357,069  2,746,477 
     CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — End of period $ 116,048,638 $ 2,987,009 
                    
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE      
Cash paid for interest $ 1,635,826 $ 1,369,700 
               NON CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Reduction of subordina ted notes due to members $ 1,000,000 $ - 
Grant of restricted stock $ 3,709,125 $ - 

 
 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NEW YORK MORTGAGE TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2004 (Unaudited)  
 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

   Organization — New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. (“NYMT” and the “Company”) is a fully 
integrated, self-advised residential mortgage finance company formed as a Maryland Corporation in 
September 2003.  The Company earns net interest income from purchased residential mortgage-backed 
securities and adjustable-rate mortgage loans and securities originated through its wholly owned 
subsidiary, The New York Mortgage Company, LLC (“NYMC”).  The Company will also earn net 
interest income from its investment in and planned securitization of self-originated mortgage loans that 
meet the Company’s investment criteria.  The Company also originates and sells to third parties fixed rate 
mortgages and mortgages that do not meet its investment criteria for retention in its portfolio. Licensed or 
exempt from licensing in 37 states and through a network of 30 loan origination offices, NYMC 
originates all types of mortgage loans, with a primary focus on prime, residential mortgage loans.   

 
   On January 9, 2004, the Company capitalized New York Mortgage Funding, LLC ("NYMF") as a 

wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.   In June 2004, the Company sold 15 million shares of its 
common stock in an initial public offering (“IPO”) at a price to the public of $9.00 per share, for net 
proceeds of approximately $122 million after deducting the underwriters’ discount and other offering 
expenses.  Concurrent with the Company’s IPO, the Company issued 2,750,000 shares of common stock 
in exchange for the contribution to the Company of 100% of the equity interests of NYMC.  Subsequent 
to the IPO and the contribution of NYMC, the Company has 18,162,125 shares issued and 17,797,375 
shares outstanding.  Prior to the IPO, NYMT did not have recurring business operations.  

 
   The Company is organized and conducts its operations to qualify as a real estate investment trust 

(“REIT”) for federal income tax purposes. As such, the Company will generally not be subject to federal 
income tax on that portion of its income that is distributed to shareholders if it distributes at least 90% of 
its REIT taxable income to its shareholders by the due date of its federal income tax return and complies 
with various other requirements. 

 
   As of June 30, 2004, NYMC had $16.5 million in equity and NYMF had $275,000 in equity. 
 
   As used herein, references to the "Company," "NYMT," "we," "our" and "us" refer to New York 

Mortgage Trust, Inc. collectively with its subsidiaries. 
 
   Basis of Presentation — The combination of the Company and NYMC is accounted for as a 

transfer of assets between entities under common control.  Accordingly, the Company has recorded assets 
and liabilities transferred from NYMC at their carrying amounts in the accounts of NYMC at the date of 
transfer.  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company subsequent to the 
IPO and also include the accounts of NYMC and NYMF prior to such date. 

 
   Of the 2,750,000 shares exchanged for the equity interests of NYMC, 100,000 of these shares will 

be held in escrow through December 31, 2004 and will be available to satisfy any indemnification claims 
the Company may have for losses incurred as a result of defaults on any residential mortgage loans 
originated by NYMC and closed prior to the completion of the IPO.  
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   The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared without audit and in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) for 
interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X.  
Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete 
financial statements.  In the opinion of management, the financial statements contain all adjustments 
(consisting of only normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the financial statements of 
the interim periods.  However, given the seasonal nature of our business, the operating results for the 
interim periods may not be indicative of the results for the full year. Certain information and footnote 
disclosures normally included in the annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with 
GAAP have been condensed or omitted.  The consolidated financial statements of the Company include 
the accounts of all wholly owned subsidiaries.  Intercompany accounts and transactions have been 
eliminated in consolidation.  Operating results for the six-month period ended June 30, 2004 are not 
necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for a full year.  These financial statements 
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s registration statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-
111668), which was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 23, 2004. 

 
   Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company's estimates and assumptions primarily 
arise from risks and uncertainties associated with interest rate volatility, prepayment vo latility, credit 
exposure and regulatory changes. Although management is not currently aware of any factors that would 
significantly change its estimates and assumptions in the near term, future changes in market conditions 
may occur which could cause actual results to differ materially. 

 
   Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, amounts due from 

banks and overnight deposits. Restricted cash represents amounts held in escrow on behalf of borrowers. 
 
   Marketable Securities — Marketable securities included debt and equity securities and investment 

grade mortgage-backed securities classified as available for sale. Marketable securities are carried at fair 
value with unrealized gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income.  Realized gains and 
losses on marketable securities occurring from sales of such investments are determined using the specific 
identification method. 

 
   Loans Held for Sale — Loans held for sale represent originated mortgage loans held for sale to 

third party investors. The loans are initially recorded at cost based on the principal amount outstanding net 
of deferred direct origination costs and fees. The loans are subsequently carried at the lower of cost or 
market value. Market value is determined by examining outstanding commitments from investors or 
current investor yield requirements calculated on the aggregate loan basis. 

 
   Property and Equipment — Property and equipment has lives ranging from three to seven years, 

and is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is provided in amounts 
sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable assets to operations over their estimated service lives using the 
straight- line method. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the life of the lease or 
service lives of the improvements using the straight- line method. Depreciation and amortization are 
recorded within occupancy and equipment expense in the financial statements. 

 
    
 



  

8 

  Derivative Financial Instruments — The Company has developed risk management programs and 
processes, which include investments in derivative financial instruments, designed to manage market risk 
associated with its mortgage banking and its mortgage-backed securities investment activities. 

 
   All derivative financial instruments are reported as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at 

fair value.  The gains and losses associated with changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated as 
hedges are reported in current earnings.  If the derivative is designated as a fair value hedge and is highly 
effective in achieving offsetting changes in the fair value of the asset or liability hedged, the recorded 
value of the hedged item is adjusted by its change in fair value attributable to the hedged risk.  If the 
derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of change in the fair value of the 
derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income ("OCI") and is recognized in the income statement 
when the hedged item affects earnings.  Ineffective portions of changes in the fair value of cash flow 
hedges are recognized in earnings.  

 
   In accordance with a Staff Accounting Bulletin 105 ("SAB 105") issued by the Securities and 

Exchange Commission on March 9, 2004, beginning in the second quarter of 2004, the fair value of 
IRLCs should exclude future cash flows related to servicing rights, if such rights are retained upon the 
sale of originated mortgage loans, (See Note 10). 

 
   Risk Management — Derivative transactions are entered into by the Company solely for risk 

management purposes. The decision of whether or not an economic risk within a given transaction (or 
portion thereof) should be hedged for risk management purposes is made on a case-by-case basis, based 
on the risks involved and other factors as determined by senior management, including the financial 
impact on income, asset valuation and restrictions imposed by the Internal Revenue Code among others. 
In determining whether to hedge a risk, the Company may consider whether other assets, liabilities, firm 
commitments and anticipated transactions already offset or reduce the risk. All transactions undertaken to 
hedge certain market risks are entered into with a view towards minimizing the potential for economic 
losses that could be incurred by the Company. Under SFAS No. 133, the Company is required to formally 
document its hedging strategy before it may elect to implement hedge accounting for qualifying 
derivatives. This documentation was completed in the third quarter of 2003. Accordingly, all qualifying 
derivatives entered into after July 1, 2003 are intended to qualify as fair value, or cash flow hedges, or 
free standing derivatives intended to act as economic hedges under FAS 133. To this end, terms of the 
hedges are matched closely to the terms of hedged items with the intention of minimizing ineffectiveness. 
Prior to July 1, 2003, all derivatives entered into by the Company were treated as free-standing 
derivatives, with changes in fair value charged to interest expense. 

 
   In the normal course of its mortgage loan origination business, the Company enters into contractual 

interest rate lock commitments to extend credit to finance residential mortgages. These commitments, 
which contain fixed expiration dates, become effective when eligible borrowers lock- in a specified 
interest rate within time frames established by the Company's origination, credit and underwriting 
practices.  Interest rate risk arises if interest rates move between the time of the lock- in of the rate by the 
borrower and the sale of the loan.  Under SFAS No. 133, the interest rate locks are considered 
undesignated or free-standing derivatives.  Accordingly, IRLCs are recorded at fair value with changes in 
fair value recorded to current earnings.  Mark to market adjustments on IRLCs are recorded from the 
inception of the interest rate lock through the date the underlying loan is funded.  The fair value of the 
IRLCs is determined by the interest rate differential between the contracted loan rate and the currently 
available market rates as of the reporting date. Beginning in the second quarter of 2004, the fair value of 
IRLCs are valued in accordance with SAB 105.  
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   To mitigate the effect of the interest rate risk inherent in providing IRLCs from the lock- in date to 
the funding date of a loan, the Company generally enters into forward sale loan contracts ("FSLC").  
Because the FSLCs are committed prior to loan funding and thus there is no owned asset to hedge, the 
FSLCs in place prior to the funding of a loan are undesignated derivatives under FAS 133 and are marked 
to market through current earnings. 

 
   Derivative instruments contain an element of risk in the event that the counterparties may be unable 

to meet the terms of such agreements. The Company minimizes its risk exposure by limiting the 
counterparties to those major banks, investment bankers and private investors who meet established credit 
and capital guidelines. Management does not expect any counterparty to default on its obligations and, 
therefore, does not expect to incur any loss due to counterparty default. These commitments and option 
contracts are considered in conjunction with the Company's lower of cost or market valuation of its 
mortgage loans held for sale.  

 
   The Company uses other derivative instruments, including treasury, agency or mortgage-backed 

securities/notes forward sale contracts which are also classified as free-standing, undesignated derivatives 
and thus are recorded at fair value with the changes in fair value recorded to current earnings. 

 
   Once a loan has been funded, the Company's risk management objective for its mortgage loans held 

for sale is to protect earnings from an unexpected charge due to a decline in value. The Company's 
strategy is to engage in a risk management program involving the designation of FSLCs (the same FSLCs 
entered into at the time of rate lock) to hedge most of its loans held for sale. Provided that the FSLCs 
were entered into after July 1, 2003, and have been designated as qualifying hedges for the funded loans 
and the notional amount of the forward delivery contracts, along with the underlying rate and critical 
terms of the contracts, are equivalent to the unpaid principal amount of the mortgage loan being hedged, 
the forward delivery contracts effectively fix the forward sales price and thereby offset interest rate and 
price risk to the Company. Accordingly, the Company evaluates this relationship quarterly and classifies 
and accounts for the FSLCs as fair value hedges. 

 
   Interest Rate Risk — The Company may hedge the aggregate risk of interest rate fluctuations with 

respect to its borrowings, regardless of the form of such borrowing, which require payments based on a 
variable interest rate index. The Company generally intends to hedge only the risk related to changes in 
the benchmark interest rate (LIBOR or a Treasury rate). 

 
   In order to reduce such risks, the Company may enter into swap agreements whereby the Company 

would receive floating rate payments in exchange for fixed rate payments, effectively converting the 
borrowing to a fixed rate. The Company may also enter into cap agreements whereby, in exchange for a 
fee, the Company would be reimbursed for interest paid in excess of a certain capped rate. 

 
   To qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, interest rate swaps and caps must meet certain criteria, 

including: 
 

l The items to be hedged expose the Company to interest rate risk; 
 

l The interest rate swaps or caps are expected to be and continue to be highly effective in 
reducing the Company's exposure to interest rate risk. 

 
   Correlation and effectiveness are periodically assessed at least quarterly based upon a comparison of the 

relative changes in the fair values or cash flows of the interest rate swaps and caps and the items being hedged.  
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   For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge (i.e. hedging the 

exposure to variability in expected future cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk), the effective 
portion of the gain or loss, and net payments received or made, on the derivative instrument are reported 
as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same period or 
periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The remaining gain or loss on the derivative 
instrument in excess of the cumulative change in the present value of future cash flows of the hedged 
item, if any, is recognized in current earnings during the period of change. 

 
   With respect to interest rate swaps and caps that have not been designated as hedges, any net 

payments under, or fluctuations in the fair value of, such swaps and caps, will be recognized currently in 
income. 

 
   Derivative financial instruments contain credit risk to the extent that the issuing counterparties may 

be unable to meet the terms of the agreements. The Company minimizes such risk by using multiple 
counterparties and limiting its counterparties to major financial institutions with investment grade credit 
ratings. In addition, the potential risk of loss with any one party resulting from this type of credit risk is 
constantly monitored. Management does not expect any material losses as a result of default by other 
parties. 

 
   Termination of Hedging Relationships — The Company employs a number of risk management 

monitoring procedures to ensure that the designated hedging relationships are demonstrating, and are 
expected to continue to demonstrate, a high level of effectiveness. Hedge accounting is discontinued on a 
prospective basis if it is determined that the hedging relationship is no longer highly effective or expected 
to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value of the hedged item. 

 
   Additionally, the Company may elect to de-designate a hedge relationship during an interim period 

and re-designate upon the rebalancing of a hedge profile and the corresponding hedge relationship. When 
hedge accounting is discontinued, the Company continues to carry the derivative instruments at fair value 
with changes in their value recorded in earnings. 

 
   Gain on Sale of Loans — The Company recognizes gain on sale of loans for the difference between 

the sales price and the adjusted cost basis of the loans when title transfers. The adjusted cost basis of the 
loans includes the original princ ipal amount adjusted for deferrals of origination and commitment fees 
received, net of direct loan origination costs paid. 

 
   Loan Origination Fees and Direct Origination Cost — The Company records loan fees, discount 

points and certain incremental direct origination costs as an adjustment of the cost of the loan and such 
amounts are included in gain on sales of loans when the loan is sold. Accordingly, salaries, compensation 
and benefits and commission costs have been reduced due to incremental direct loan origination costs, by 
approximately $9,472,159 and $7,498,491 for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. 

 
   Brokered Loan Fees and Expenses - The Company records commissions associated with brokered 

loans when such loans are closed with the borrower.  Costs associated with brokered loans are expensed 
when incurred. 
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Loan Commitment Fees — Fees received for guaranteeing the funding of mortgage loans to 
borrowers at pre-set conditions are deferred and recognized at the earlier of the date at which the 
commitment expires or the loan is sold. 

 
   Interest Recognition — The Company accrues interest income as it is earned. Loans are placed on a 

nonaccrual status when any portion of the principal or interest is 90 days past due or earlier when concern 
exists as to the ultimate collectibility of principal or interest. Loans return to accrual status when principal 
and interest become current and are anticipated to be fully collectible. Interest expense is recorded on 
outstanding lines of credit at a rate based on a spread to LIBOR. 

 
   Employee Benefits Plans — The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan (the "Plan") for all 

eligible domestic employees. The Plan qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under Section 401(k) of 
the Internal Revenue Code. Under the Plan, participating employees may defer up to 25% of their pre-tax 
earnings, subject to the annual Internal Revenue Code contribution limit. The Company matches 
contributions up to a maximum of 25% of the first 5% of salary. Employees vest immediately in their 
contribution and vest in the Company's contribution at a rate of 25% after two full years and then an 
incremental 25% per full year of service until fully vested at 100% after five full years of service. The 
Company's total contributions to the Plan were $79,063 and $64,392 for the six months ended June 30, 
2004 and 2003, respectively. 

 
   Marketing and Promotion — The Company charges the costs of marketing, promotion and 

advertising to expense in the period incurred. 
 
   Income Taxes — We operate so as to qualify as a REIT under the requirements of the Internal 

Revenue Code (the Code).  Requirements for qualification as a REIT include various restrictions on 
ownership of the Company’s stock, requirements concerning distribution of taxable income and certain 
restrictions on the nature of assets and sources of income.  A REIT must distribute at least 90% of its 
taxable income to its stockholders of which 85% must be distributed within the taxable year in order to 
avoid the imposition of an excise tax.  The remaining balance may extend until timely filing of our tax 
return in the subsequent taxable year.  Qualifying distributions of taxable income are deductible by a 
REIT in computing taxable income. 

 
   NYMC is a taxable REIT subsidiary and is therefore subject to corporate income taxes.  Deferred 

tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between 
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax base.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable 
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  The 
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period 
that includes the enactment date.  At June 30, 2004, deferred tax assets and liabilities are immaterial.  

 
   Prior to the IPO, the Company was not a taxpaying entity for Federal or state income tax purposes, 

and accordingly, no provision is made for income taxes.  
 
   Earnings Per Share - Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net 

income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock 
outstanding for the period.  Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if 
securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock or 
resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings of the Company. 
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2. Loans Held For Sale 
 

   Mortgage loans held for sale consist of the following as of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003: 
 

  June 30, 2004  December 31, 2003 
     
Mortgage loans principal amount $ 50,156,412 $ 36,168,003 
Deferred origination costs/(fees) — net  244,468  1,304 
Hedging basis adjustments  283,481  88,922 
     Loans held for sale $ 50,684,361 $ 36,258,229 
                

3. Property and Equipment — Net 
 
 

   Property and equipment consist of the following as of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003: 
 
  June 30, 2004 December 31, 2003 
     
Office and computer equipment $ 1,697,165 $ 1,433,700 
Furniture and fixtures  867,121  721,966 
Leasehold improvements  826,709  789,725 
     Total premises and equipment  3,390,995  2,945,391 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization  (1,119,600)  (913,694) 
     Property and equipment — net $ 2,271,395 $ 2,031,697 
                

4. Derivative Assets and Liabilities 
 

   The following table summarizes derivative assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2004 and December 
31, 2003: 
 

   June 30, 2004  December 31, 
2003 

     
Derivative Assets:     
Forward loan sale contracts — loans held for sale (included in 
other assets) 

 
$ 363,604, 

 
$ - 

Interest rate lock commitments (included in other assets)  -  227,513 
     Total derivative assets $ 363,604, $ 227,513 
               Derivative Liabilities:     
Forward loan sale contracts — loan commitments $ (29,034) $ (133,682) 
Interest rate lock commitments — loans held for sale  (257,257)  - 
Forward loan sale contracts — loans held for sale  -  (6,579) 
Forward loan sale contracts — TBA securities  (416,327)  (121,250) 

     Total derivative liabilities $ (702,618) $ (261,511) 
                

   Derivative liabilities of $283,481 and $88,922 are included in the balance sheets in loans held for 
sale as of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. The remaining liabilities related to 
derivatives are included in other liabilities. 
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5. Financing Arrangements 
 

   Financing arrangements consist of the following as of June 30, 2004, and December 31, 2003: 
 

  June 30, 2004 December 31, 2003 
$100 million master repurchase agreement with Greenwich 
Capital Financial Products, Inc. initially expiring August 31, 
2004 bearing interest at one-month LIBOR plus spreads from 
1.125% to 2.000% depending on collateral (2.53% at June 30, 
2004). Principal repayments are required 90 days from the 
funding date(a) $ 82,217,339 $ 72,461,446 

$100 million revolving line of credit initially expiring January 8, 
2005 bearing interest at daily LIBOR plus 0.90% (2.03% at June 
30, 2004). Principal repayments are required 90 days from the 
funding date(a) 25,978,122 - 

$50 million revolving line of credit which expires on June 29, 
2005 bearing interest at one-month LIBOR plus 1.25% (2.364% 
at March 31, 2004) 36,363,486 14,966,814 

$15 million revolving line of credit (terminated and syndicated 
into $50 million revolving line above) bearing interest at the 
lesser of LIBOR plus 1.5% or the prime rate 

 
 

- 

 
 

2,996,873 
      $ 144,558,947 $ 90,425,133 
                

__________ 
(a) The credit facility requires the Company to transfer specific collateral to the lender under repurchase 

agreements; however, due to the rate of turnover of the collateral by the Company, the counterparty 
has not taken title to or recorded their interest in any of the collateral transferred. Interest is paid to the 
counterparty based on the amount of outstanding borrowings based on the terms provided. 

 
   The lines of credit are secured by all of the mortgage loans of the Company. The lines contain 

various covenants pertaining to maintenance of net worth and working capital.   
 
6. Commitments and Contingencies 
 

   Loans Sold to Investors — Generally, the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk on its 
loans sold to investors. In the normal course of business, the Company is obligated to repurchase loans 
which are subsequently unable to be sold through its long-term contractual investor channels. Historically 
the repurchase percentage has been less than 0.02% of loans sold. Such loans are then repackaged and 
sold to non-traditional investors. 

 
   Loans Funding and Delivery Commitments — At June 30, 2004 and at December 31, 2003 the 

Company had commitments to fund loans with agreed-upon rates totaling $215,729,994 and $71,375,732, 
respectively. The Company hedges the interest rate risk of such commitments and the recorded loans held 
for sale balances primarily with FSLCs, which totaled $134,986,507 and $54,522,057 at June 30, 2004 
and December 31, 2003, respectively.  The remaining commitments to fund loans with agreed-upon rates 
are anticipated to be sold through optional delivery contracts investor programs.  The Company does not 
anticipate any material losses from such sales. 

 
   Net Worth Requirements — NYMC is required to maintain certain specified levels of minimum net 

worth to maintain its approved status with Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD and other investors. At 
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December 31, 2003, the highest minimum net worth requirement applicable to the Company was 
$250,000. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had an equity deficit of $473,625. Certain parties 
provided waivers to their minimum net worth requirements as they considered the distribution the 
Company made to its members in the form of subordinate promissory notes of $14,706,902 as a form of 
equity.  Subsequent to December 31, 2003, NYMT recapitalized NYMC with cash contributions of equity 
of approximately $16.5 million.  As of June 30, 2004 NYMC is in compliance with all minimum net 
worth requirements. 

 
   Outstanding Litigation — The Company is involved in litigation arising in the normal course of 

business. Although the amount of any ultimate liability arising from these matters cannot presently be 
determined, the Company does not anticipate that any such liability will have a material effect on the 
Company's financial statements. 
 
7. Related Party Transactions  
 

   Upon completion of the Company’s IPO and acquisition of NYMC, Steven B. Schnall and Joseph V. 
Fierro, the predecessor owners of NYMC, were entitled to a distribution of NYMC’s retained earnings, 
not to exceed $4,500,000 through the close of the Company’s IPO on June 29, 2004.  As a result, a 
distribution of $2,409,322 ($409,323 of retained earnings as of March 31, 2004 plus an estimate of 
$2,000,000 for NYMC’s earnings through June 29, 2004) was made to the predecessor owners upon the 
close of the IPO.  The subsequent earnings and elimination of distributions and unrealized gains and 
losses attributable to NYMC for the period prior to June 29, 2004 equated to a distribution overpayment 
of $1,309,448 which is included in “prepaid and other assets” on the Company’s balance sheet as of June 
30, 2004.  Immediately upon the finalization of the overpayment calculation in July 2004, Messrs. Schnall 
and Fierro reimbursed the Company for the over-distribution. 

 
   Steven B. Schnall owns a 48% membership interest and Joseph V. Fierro owns a 12% membership 

interest in Centurion Abstract, LLC, which provides title insurance brokerage services for certain title 
insurance providers. From time to time, NYMC refers its mortgage loan borrowers to Centurion Abstract, 
LLC for assistance in obtaining title insurance in connection with their mortgage loans, although the 
borrowers have no obligation to utilize Centurion's services. When NYMC's borrowers elect to utilize 
Centurion's services to obtain title insurance, Centurion collects various fees and a portion of the title 
insurance premium paid by the borrower for its title insurance. Centurion Abstract received $278,924 in 
fees and other amounts from NYMC borrowers for the six months ended June 30, 2004. 

 
   Steven B. Schnall owns 4.25% of Restaurant.com, and has no active participation. Two employees 

from Restaurant.com currently rent space from NYMC and pay rent on a month to month basis. For the 
six months ended June 30, 2004, the Company has collected $10,500 in rental income. 
 
 
8. Concentrations of Credit Risk 

 
   The Company has originated loans predominantly in the eastern United States. Loan concentrations 

are considered to exist when there are amounts loaned to a multiple number of borrowers with similar 
characteristics, which would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly impacted by 
economic or other conditions. At June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003 and 2002, there were geographic 
concentrations of credit risk exceeding 5% of the total loan balances within loans held for sale as follows: 
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 June 30, 2004 2003 
New York 54.6% 82.8% 
New Jersey 23.7% 2.5% 
Florida 6.2% 5.7% 
Connecticut 5.3% 0.7% 

 
9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 

   Fair value estimates are made as of a specific point in time based on estimates using market quotes, 
present value or other valuation techniques. These techniques involve uncertainties and are significantly 
affected by the assumptions used and the judgments made regarding risk characteristics of various 
financial instruments, discount rates, estimates of future cash flows, future expected loss experience, and 
other factors. 

 
   Changes in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates and the resulting fair values. 

Derived fair value estimates cannot be necessarily substantiated by comparison to independent markets 
and, in many cases, could not be necessarily realized in an immediate sale of the instrument. Also, 
because of differences in methodologies and assumptions used to estimate fair values, the Company's fair 
values should not be compared to those of other companies. 

 
   All forward delivery commitments and option contracts to buy securities are to be contractually 

settled within six months of the balance sheet date. 
 
   Fair value estimates are based on existing financial instruments and do not attempt to estimate the 

value of anticipated future business and the value of assets and liabilities that are not considered financial 
instruments. Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts presented below do not represent the 
underlying value of the Company. 

 
   The fair value of certain assets and liabilities approximate cost due to their short-term nature, terms 

of repayment or interest rate associated with the asset or liability. Such assets or liabilities include cash 
and cash equivalents, unsettled mortgage loan sales, and financing arrangements. 

 
   The following describes the methods and assumptions used by the Company in estimating fair 

values of other financial instruments: 
 

   a. Mortgage Loans Held for Sale — Fair value is estimated using the quoted market prices for 
securities backed by similar types of loans and current investor or dealer commitments to purchase 
loans. 

 
   b. Interest Rate Lock Commitments — The fair value of IRLCs are estimated using the fees and 

rates currently charged to enter into similar agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of the 
agreements and the present creditworthiness of the counterparties. For fixed rate loan commitments, 
fair value also considers the difference between current levels of interest rates and the committed rates.  

  
   c. Commitments to Deliver Mortgages — The fair value of these instruments is estimated using 

current market prices for dealer or investor commitments relative to the Company's existing positions. 
 

   The following tables set forth information about financial instruments, except for those noted above 
for which the carrying amount approximates fair value. 
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  June 30, 2004  
        
  

Notional 
Amount 

 Carrying 
Amount 

 Estimated 
Fair Value 

      Assets:      
Mortgage loans held for sale $ 50,156,412  $50,684,361  $50,775,942 
Commitments and contingencies:      
Interest rate lock commitments  215,729,994  (257,257)  (257,257) 
Forward loan sales commitments  134,986,507  (81,757)  (81,757) 

 
 

  December 31, 2003 
         Notional 

Amount 
 Carrying 

Amount 
 Estimated 

Fair Value 
      Assets:      
Mortgage loans held for sale $36,168,003  $36,258,229  $38,020,465 

Commitments and contingencies:      
Interest rate lock commitments 71,375,732  227,513  227,513 
Forward loan sales commitments  54,522,057  (261,511)  (261,511) 

 
 
10. Recently Issued Accounting Standards  
 

   New Accounting Pronouncements — On March 9, 2004, the SEC issued SAB 105, which provides 
guidance regarding loan commitments tha t are accounted for as derivative instruments under SFAS No. 
133 (as amended), “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”.  In SAB 105, the 
SEC stated that the value of expected future cash flows related to servicing rights should be excluded 
when determining the fair value of derivative interest rate lock commitments.  This guidance must be 
applied to rate locks initiated after March 31, 2004. Under the new policy, the value of the expected future 
cash flow related to servicing rights is not recognized until the underlying loans are sold.  The Company 
sells its loans “servicing released” and values its IRLCs based strictly on the interest rate differential 
between the contractual interest rate for the loan and current market rates.  The application of SAB 105 
did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements for the three months ended June 30, 
2004. 
 
 
11. Capital Stock and Earnings per Share  
 

   The Company had 400,000,000 shares of par value $0.01 common stock authorized with 18,162,125 
shares issued and 17,797,375 outstanding as of June 29, 2004 as a result of the Company’s IPO and 
subsequent combination with NYMC.  Of the 400,000,000 shares of par value $0.01 common stock 
authorized, 794,250 shares are reserved for issuance as restricted stock awards to employees, officers and 
directors.  As of June 30, 2004, 382,125 shares remain reserved for issuance. 

 
   The Company calculates basic net income per share by dividing net income for the period by 

weighted-average shares of its common stock outstanding for that period.  Diluted net income per share 
takes into account the effect of dilutive instruments, such as stock options and unvested restricted stock, 
but uses the average share price for the period in determining the number of incremental shares that are to 
be added to the weighted-average number of shares outstanding.  For the three and six month periods 
ended June 30, 2004, weighted average shares outstanding assume that the shares outstanding upon the 
Company’s IPO are outstanding for the full three and six month periods ending June 30, 2004.  Earnings 
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per share for periods prior to the IPO are not presented as they are not representative of the Company’s 
current capital structure. 

 
   The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted net earnings per share as if all 

stock options were outstanding for the periods indicated (in thousands, except net earnings per share):  
 
 
 For the Six Months Ended 

June 30, 
For the Three Months Ended 

June 30, 
           2004  2003  2004  2003 
Numerator:         
Net (loss) income $ (366,604) $ 7,691,779 $ (484,108) $ (4,763,339) 
         
Denominator:         
Weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding - basic 

 
17,797  

 
N/A 

 
17,797  N/A 

         
Net effect of unvested restricted stock  —  N/A  —  N/A 
Net effect of stock options1  —  N/A  —  N/A 
Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding – dilutive  

 
17,797  

  
17,797  N/A 

Net (loss) per share – basic and diluted $ (0.02) $ N/A $ (0.03) $ N/A 
 
 

1 The Company has not granted any of the 706,000 stock options available for issuance under the Company’s 2004 stock 
incentive plan. 

 
12. Stock Incentive Plan 
 

   Pursuant to the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), eligible employees, officers and directors are 
offered the opportunity to acquire the Company’s common shares through the grant of options and the 
award of restricted stock under the Plan.  The maximum number of options that may be issued is 706,000 
shares and the maximum number of restricted stock awards that may be granted under the Plan is 
794,250.  The Plan provides for the exercise price of options to be determined by the Compensation 
Committee of the Board (“Compensation Committee”) but not to be less than the fair market value on the 
date the option is granted.  Options are not exercisable after more than ten years after the grant date.  As 
of June 30, 2004, no stock options have been granted pursuant to the Plan. 

 
   As of June 30, 2004, the Company has awarded 412,125 shares of restricted stock under the Plan.  

During the quarter ended June 30, 2004, the Company recognized compensation expense of $1.3 million 
on 147,375 restricted shares relating to the vested portion of restricted stock grants.  In general, unvested 
restricted stock is forfeited upon the recipient’s termination of employment.   

 
13. Subsequent Events 
 

   Since the completion of the Company’s IPO, acquisition of NYMC and subsequent to the quarter 
ended June 30, 2004, the Company began to utilize the proceeds of the IPO to invest, on a leverage basis, 
in residential mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by a government sponsored agency (“agency 
securities”) or having an investment grade rating.  As of August 12, 2004, the Company has purchased 
securities totaling $1.0 billion at a weighted average coupon of 4.2% and a weighted average purchase 
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price of 101.02.  Approximately 68% of these securities are agency securities and 32% are “AAA”-rated 
securities.  The securities purchased are predominately backed by 3/1 hybrid adjustable rate mortgages. 

 
   The Company financed its purchase of residential mortgage-backed securities with reverse 

repurchase agreements.  As of August 5, 2004, the Company had reverse repurchase agreements 
outstanding totaling $792.0 million with seven different counterparties.  The Company has available to it 
$4.1 billion in commitments to provide financings through such arrangements with 20 different 
counterparties. 

 
   In order to mitigate interest rate risk, the Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements 

totaling $535.0 million with a weighted average term of 1.75 years as of August 5, 2004.  The Company 
has available to it $3.0 billion in swap line commitments from ten different counterparties.  The Company 
has also entered into interest rate cap agreements totaling $250.0 million. 
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ITEM 2.   MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
 
 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  
 

   This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains certain forward-looking statements. Forward looking 
statements are those which are not historical in nature. They can often be identified by their inclusion of 
words such as “will,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “should,” “expect,” “believe,” “intend” and similar 
expressions. Any projection of revenues, earnings or losses, capital expenditures, distributions, capital 
structure or other financial terms is a forward- looking statement.  Certain statements regarding the 
following particularly are forward- looking in nature:  
 

 l our business strategy;  
 l future performance, developments, market forecasts or projected dividends;  
 l projected acquisitions or joint ventures; and  
 l projected capital expenditures.  

 
   It is important to note that the description of our business in general and our investment in mortgage 

loans and mortgage-backed securities holdings in particular, is a statement about our operations as of a 
specific point in time.  It is not meant to be construed as an investment policy, and the types of assets we 
hold, the amount of leverage we use, the liabilities we incur and other characteristics of our assets and 
liabilities are subject to reevaluation and change without notice 
 

   Our forward-looking statements are based upon our management’s beliefs, assumptions and 
expectations of our future operations and economic performance, taking into account the information 
currently available to us.  Forward- looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, some of which are 
not currently known to us that might cause our actual results, performance or financial condition to be 
materially different from the expectations of future results, performance or financial condition we express 
or imply in any forward- looking statements.  Some of the important factors tha t could cause our actual 
results, performance or financial condition to differ materially from expectations are:  
 

l  our limited operating history with respect to our portfolio strategy;  
l  our proposed portfolio strategy may be changed or modified by our management without advance 

notice to stockholders, and that we may suffer losses as a result of such modifications or changes; 
l  impacts of a change in demand for mortgage loans on our net income and cash available for 

distribution; 
l  our ability to originate prime and high-quality adjustable-rate and hybrid mortgage loans for our 

portfolio; 
l  risks associated with the use of leverage;  
l  interest rate mismatches between our mortgage-backed securities and our borrowings used to fund 

such purchases;  
l  changes in interest rates and mortgage prepayment rates;  
l  effects of interest rate caps on our adjustable-rate mortgage-backed securities;  
l  the degree to which our hedging strategies may or may not protect us from interest rate volatility;  
l  potential impacts of our leveraging policies on our net income and cash available for distribution;  

l  our board’s ability to change our operating policies and strategies without notice to you or 
stockholder approval;  
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l 
 the other important factors described in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including those under 

the captions “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations,” “Risk Factors,” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.”  

 
   We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward- looking statements, whether as 

a result of new information, future events or otherwise.  In light of these risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions, the events described by our forward- looking events might not occur.  We qualify any and all 
of our forward- looking statements by these cautionary factors. In addition, you should carefully review 
the risk factors described in other documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.  

 
   This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains market data, industry statistics and other data that 

have been obtained from, or compiled from, information made available by third parties. We have not 
independently verified their data.  
 
General 

 
   The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements 

and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.  The discussion and analysis is derived from 
the consolidated operating results of New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and 
“our”). 

 
   We are a fully integrated, self-advised  residential mortgage finance company, formed to initiate a 

residential mortgage securitization business through our acquisition of NYMC, a residential mortgage 
banking company, concurrently with our IPO.  NYMC, our wholly-owned taxable REIT subsidiary, 
originates mortgage loans of all types, with a particular focus on prime adjustable- and fixed-rate, first 
lien, residential purchase mortgage loans.  Historically, NYMC has sold all of the loans it originates to 
third parties, and has also brokered loans to other mortgage lenders prior to funding.  NYMC, which 
originates residential mortgage loans through a network of 30 offices, is presently licensed or authorized 
to do business in 37 states.  On June 29, 2004, we completed our acquisition of NYMC and closed our 
IPO.  We intend to elect to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. 

 
   Since the completion of our IPO and acquisition of NYMC, our primary business focus is to build a 

leveraged portfolio of residential mortgage loans comprised largely of prime adjustable-rate mortgage 
loans that we originate and that meet our investment objectives and portfolio requirements, including 
adjustable-rate loans that have an initial fixed-rate period, which we refer to as hybrid mortgage loans. 
While we originate and build our portfolio of adjustable-rate and hybrid mortgage loans, we intend to use 
a substantial portion of the net proceeds from our IPO to purchase, on a leveraged basis, residential 
mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by a government sponsored entity or having an investment grade 
rating.  As of August 12, 2004, we have invested in $1.0 billion of residential mortgage-backed securities 
financed with $792.0 million in reverse repurchase financing facilities. Over time, we expect that these 
securities will be replaced by adjustable-rate and hybrid mortgage loans that we originate, although we 
may continue to purchase securities from third parties. We believe that our ability to originate mortgage 
loans as the basis for our portfolio will enable us to build a portfolio that generates a higher return than the 
returns realized by mortgage investors that do not have their own origination capabilities, because the cost 
to originate and retain such mortgage loans for securitization is generally less than the premiums paid to 
purchase similar assets from third parties.   
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   Generally, we intend to continue to sell the fixed-rate loans that we originate to third parties, and to 
retain in our portfolio and finance a majority of the adjustable-rate and hybrid mortgage loans that we 
originate.  Our portfolio loans will be held at the REIT level or by a qualified REIT subsidiary.  Any 
adjustable-rate and hybrid mortgage loans we originate that do not meet our investment criteria or 
portfolio requirements will be sold to third parties.  We rely on our own underwriting criteria with respect 
to the mortgage loans we retain and will continue to rely on the underwriting criteria of the institutions to 
which we sell our loans with respect to the loans we sell. 

 
   Once we have built a large enough portfolio comprised mainly of retained mortgage loans, we 

intend to securitize such loans.  We anticipate that the securitization transactions through which we 
finance the adjustable-rate and hybrid mortgage loans that we retain will be structured as financings for 
both tax and financial accounting purposes. Therefore, we do not expect to generate a gain or loss on sales 
from these activities, and, following the securitizations, the loans will remain on our consolidated balance 
sheet as assets with the securitization debt recorded as a liability. 

 
   Our Company earns net interest income from purchased residential mortgage-backed securities and 

adjustable-rate mortgage loans and securities originated through its wholly owned subsidiary, NYMC.  
We have acquired and will seek to acquire additional assets that will produce competitive returns, taking 
into consideration the amount and nature of the anticipated returns from the investment, our ability to 
pledge the investment for secured, collateralized borrowings and the costs associated with origination, 
financing, managing, securitizing and reserving for these investments.  

 
   On June 29, 2004, we closed our initial public offering, selling 15.0 million shares of our common 

stock at a price to the public of $9.00 per share and raising net proceeds of approximately $122.0 million 
after deducting the underwriters’ discount and other offering expenses.  We are in the process of 
purchasing for inclusion in our portfolio, on a leveraged basis, approximately $1.1 billion of residential 
mortgage-backed securities that are guaranteed by a government sponsored entity or rated investment 
grade.  At June 30, 2004, we had yet to commence the investment in mortgage-backed securities 
described above.  The remainder of the proceeds was used to repay promissory notes owed by NYMC to 
its prior owners and will be used for general corporate and working capital purposes, including possible 
future acquisitions. 

 
   Our business is affected by a variety of economic and industry factors which management considers. 

The most significant risk factors management considers while managing the business and which could 
have a materially adverse effect on the financial condition and results of operations are: 

 
• a decline in the market value of our assets due to rising interest rates; 
• increasing or decreasing levels of prepayments on the mortgages underlying our mortgage-backed 

securities; 
• a decrease in the demand for mortgage loans due to a period of rising interest rates may adversely 

affect our earnings; 
• our ability to originate prime adjustable-rate and hybrid mortgage loans for our portfolio; 
• the overall leverage of our portfolio and the ability to obtain financing to leverage our equity; 
• the potential for increased borrowing costs and its impact on net income; 
• our ability or inability to use derivatives to mitigate our interest rate and prepayment risks; 
• a prolonged economic slow down, a lengthy or severe recession or declining real estate values 

could harm our operations; 
• if our assets are insufficient to meet the collateral requirements of our lenders, we might be 

compelled to liquidate particular assets at inopportune times and at disadvantageous prices; 
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• if we are disqualified as a REIT, we will be subject to tax as a regular corporation and face 
substantial tax liability; and 

• compliance with REIT requirements might cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities. 
 
 
Overview of Performance  
 

   During the first six months of 2004, we reported a net loss of approximately $367,000, or $0.02 per 
diluted share, as compared to net income of $7.7 million for the same period of 2003.  Our revenues were 
driven largely from loan originations during the period.  For the three and six months ended June 30, 
2004, we originated $514.0 million and $797.4 million in residential mortgage loans, respectively, as 
compared to $412.9 million and $774.3 million for the same periods of 2003. The increase in our loan 
origination levels for the six months ended June 30, 2004 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 
2003 resulted from the addition of sales personnel and branch offices primarily in new and underserved 
markets.  Total employees increased to 509 at June 30, 2004 from 253 at June 30, 2003.  Included in the 
total number of employees, the number of loan officers dedicated to originating loans increased to 202 at 
June 30, 2004 from 106 at June 30, 2003.  Origination branches increased to 30 at June 30, 2004 from 17 
at June 30, 2003. The increase in offices and personnel relative to the same period of the prior year 
primarily occurred in the period March through June 2004.  
 
Summary of Operations and Key Performance Measurements  
 

   For the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, our net income was highly dependent upon our 
mortgage lending operations and originations, which include the mortgage loan sales (“mortgage 
banking”) and mortgage brokering activities on residential mortgages sold or brokered to third parties.  
Our mortgage banking activities generate sizable revenues in the form of gains on sales of mortgage loans 
to third parties and ancillary fee income and interest revenue from borrowers.  Our mortgage brokering 
operations generate brokering fee revenues from third party buyers. 

 
   A breakdown of our loan originations for the six months ended June 30, 2004 follows: 
 

 
 
 

Description 

  
 

Number 
of Loans 

  
Aggregate 
Principal 
Balance 

  
Percentage 

of Total 
Principal 

 Weighted 
Average 
Interest 

Rate 

  
Average 

Loan 
Size 

                      
Purchase mortgages  1,742  $ 442,545,907  55.5%  5.49%  $ 254,045 
Refinancings  1,700   354,873,073   44.5%  5.52%   208,749 

Total  3,442  $ 797,418,980  100.0%  5.50%  $ 231,673 
           
Adjustable rate or hybrid  1,268  $ 402,947,170  50.5%  4.81%  $ 317,782 
Fixed rate  2,174   394,471,810   49.5%  6.21%   181,450 

Total  3,442  $ 797,418,980  100.0%  5.50%  $ 231,673 
           
Bankered  2,997  619,969,756  77.7%  5.69%  $ 206,863 
Brokered   445   177,449,224   22.3%  4.83%   398,762 

Total  3,442  $797,418,980  100.0%  5.50%  $ 231,673 
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The key performance measures for our origination activities are:  
 
 

 l dollar volume of mortgage loans originated;   
 l relative cost of the loans originated;   
 
l 

characteristics of the loans, including but not limited to the coupon and 
credit quality of the loan, which will indicate their expected yield; and  

 

 
l 

return on our mortgage asset investments and the related management of 
interest rate risk.  

 

 
   Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, along with 

other portions of this report, are designed to provide information regarding our performance and these key 
performance measures.  
 
Known Material Trends and Commentary 
 

   The U.S. residential mortgage market has experienced considerable growth during the past ten 
years, with total outstanding U.S. mortgage debt growing from approximately $3.2 trillion at the end of 
1993 to approximately $7.3 trillion as of December 31, 2003, according to The Bond Market Association 
and the Federal Reserve.  The residential mortgage loan market is the largest consumer finance market in 
the United States.  According to the 1-to-4 Family Mortgage Originations, 1990-2002: Total, Refi Share, 
and ARM Share, Annual, 1990 to 2002, Report of the Mortgage Bankers Association (“MBAA”), lenders 
in the United States originated more than $2.85 trillion in one to four family mortgage loans in 2002, 
while the June 11, 2004 Mortgage Finance Forecast of the MBAA estimated that lenders originated 
approximately $3.81 trillion in 2003.  In the June forecast, the MBAA projects mortgage loan volumes 
will fall to $2.43 trillion in 2004 and $1.74 trillion in 2005, respectively, primarily attributable to an 
expected continued decline in the volume of refinancing of existing loans relative to 2003: 

 
Total U.S. 1-to-4 Family Mortgage 
Originations (Dollars in billions) 

  
2003 

  
2004 Forecast 

Forecasted 
Percentage Change 

Purchase mortgages $ 1,280 $ 1,383 8.0% 
Refinancings    2,530    1,044 -58.7% 
Total $ 3,810 $ 2,427 -36.3% 
      

Source:  June 11, 2004 Mortgage Finance Forecast of the MBAA 
 
   The following table summarizes the Company’s loan origination volume and characteristics for the 

three and six months ended June 30, 2004 relative to our prior year historical origination production and 
expected industry trends for total U.S. 1-to-4 family mortgage originations as forecast in the June 11, 
2004 Mortgage Finance Forecast of the MBAA.  For the six months ended June 30, 2004, our total loan 
originations increased over the comparable period for 2003. This increase is in contrast to the June 11, 
2004 Mortgage Finance Forecast of the MBAA which estimates an industry decline for the period of 
19.0% for total originations: 
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Our Total Mortgage Originations  
   
 Total Mortgage Originations ($million)  Percentage Change from Prior Year 
 2003 2004 NYMC Actual MBAA Industry Forecast 

1st Quarter $  361.4 $  283.5 -21.6% -21.7% 
2nd Quarter    412.9     514.0 24.5% -16.8% 

1st Half $  774.3 $  797.5 3.0% -19.0% 
     
3rd Quarter 486.3    
4th Quarter      339.8    

Full Year  $1,600.4   -36.3% 
 
   With regard to purchase mortgage originations, statistics from the MBAA indicate that the volume 

of purchase mortgages year after year steadily increase throughout various economic and interest rate 
cycles.  While management is unable to predict borrowing habits, historical trends indicate that the 
purchase mortgage market is relatively stable and growing.  For the six months ended June 30, 2004, our 
purchase mortgage originations have increased by $60.4 million or 15.8% over the comparable period for 
the prior year.  This increase exceeds the 8.0% increase fo recasted by the June 11, 2004 Mortgage 
Finance Forecast of the MBAA for total U.S. 1-to-4 family purchase mortgage originations for the full 
year 2004. 

 
Our Total Purchase Mortgage Originations  

    
 Total Purchase Mortgage Originations 

($million) 
 

 Percentage Change  
 2003 2004 from Prior Year 

1st Quarter $  208.5 $  169.3 -18.8% 
2nd Quarter    173.7     273.3 57.3% 

1st Half $  382.2 $  442.6 15.8% 
    
3rd Quarter 218.2   
4th Quarter      203.2   

Full Year  $  803.6   
 
   For the six months ended June 30, 2004, our originations of mortgage refinancings have decreased 

by $37.2 million or 9.5% versus the comparable period for the prior year.  This 9.5% decline in our 
origination of mortgage refinancings is less severe than the 58.7% decline for total U.S. 1-to-4 family 
refinance mortgage originations for the full year 2004 estimated in the June 11, 2004 Mortgage Finance 
Forecast of the MBAA. 
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Our Total Refinance Mortgage Originations  
    

 Total Refinance Mortgage Originations 
($million) 

 
Percentage Change  

 2003 2004 from Prior Year 
1st Quarter $  152.9 $  114.2 -25.3% 
2nd Quarter    239.2     240.7   0.6% 

1st Half $  392.1 $  354.9 -9.5% 
    
3rd Quarter 268.1   
4th Quarter      136.6   

Full Year  $  796.8   
 
   For the six months ended June 30, 2004, NYMC's purchase loan originations represented 55.5% of 

NYMC's total residential mortgage loan originations as measured by principal balance, as compared to an 
industry-wide percentage of 49.1% for one-to-four family mortgage loans as estimated in the June 11, 
2004 Mortgage Finance Forecast of the MBAA.  We believe that our concentration on purchase loan 
originations has caused our loan origination volume to be less susceptible to the expected industry-wide 
decline in origination volume.  We believe that the market for mortgage loans for home purchases is less 
susceptible than the refinance market to downturns during periods of increasing interest rates, because 
borrowers seeking to purchase a home do not generally base their decision to purchase on changes in 
interest rates alone, while borrowers that refinance their mortgage loans often make their decision as a 
direct result of changes in interest rates.  Consequently, while our referral-based marketing strategy may 
cause our overall loan origination volume during periods of declining interest rates to lag our competitors 
who rely on mass marketing and advertising and who therefore capture a greater percentage of loan 
refinance applications during those periods, we believe this strategy enables us to sustain stronger home 
purchase loan origination volumes than those same competitors during periods of flat to rising interest 
rates.  In addition, we believe that our referral-based business results in relatively higher gross margins 
and lower advertising costs and loan generation expenses than most other mortgage companies whose 
business is not referral-based.   

 
   We depend on the capital markets to finance the mortgage loans we originate.  In the short-term, we 

finance our mortgage loans using “warehouse” lines of credit and “aggregation” lines provided by 
commercial and investment banks.  As we execute our business plan of securitizing self-originated 
mortgage loans, we will issue bonds from our loan securitizations and will own such bonds although we 
may sell the bonds to large, institutional investors at some point in the future.  These bonds and some of 
our mortgage loans may be financed with reverse repurchase agreements with well capitalized 
commercial and investment banks.   Commercial and investment banks have provided significant liquidity 
to finance our operations through these various financing facilities.  While management cannot predict the 
future liquidity environment, we are currently unaware of any material reason to prevent continued 
liquidity support in the capital markets for our business.  See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for 
further discussion of liquidity risks and resources available to us.  

 
   Within the past year, the mortgage REIT industry has seen a significant increase in the desire for 

raising capital in the public markets.  Additionally, there have been several new entrants, including 
ourselves, to the mortgage REIT business and other mortgage lender conversions (or proposed 
conversions) to REIT status.  While many of these entrants focus on sub-prime and nonconforming 
mortgage lending, there are also entrants which will compete with our focus on the high-quality and prime 
mortgage marketplace.  This increased activity may impact the pricing and underwriting guidelines within 
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the high-quality and prime marketplace.  We have not changed our guidelines or pricing in response to 
this activity nor do we have any plans to make such changes.  

 
   State and local governing bodies are focused on the mortgage lend ing business and the fees 

borrowers incur in obtaining a mortgage loan – generally termed “predatory lending” within the mortgage 
industry.  In several instances, states or local governing bodies have imposed strict laws on lenders to curb 
such practices.  To date, these laws have had an insignificant impact on our business.  We have capped fee 
structures consistent with those adopted by federal mortgage agencies and have implemented rigid 
processes to ensure that our lending practices are not predatory in nature.  

 
Description of Businesses  
 
Mortgage Lending 
 

   Our mortgage lending operations are significant to our financial results as they produce the loans 
that ultimately will collateralize the mortgage securities that we will hold in our portfolio.  We primarily 
originate prime, first lien residential mortgage loans and, to a lesser extent second mortgage loans, home 
equity lines of credit, and bridge loans.  We originate all types of mortgage loan products including 
adjustable-rate mortgages (“ARM”) which may have an initial fixed rate period, and fixed-rate mortgages.  
Since the completion of our IPO, we have begun to retain and aggregate our self-originated, high-quality, 
shorter-term ARM loans and pool them into mortgage securities.  The fixed rate loans we originate and 
any ARM loans not meeting our investment criteria continue to be sold to third parties.  For the six 
months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, we originated $620.0 million and $609.9 million in mortgage 
loans for sale to third parties, respectively.  We recognized gains on sales of mortgage loans totaling $10.5 
million and $11.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.   

 
   We also broker loans to third party mortgage lenders for which we receive a broker fee.  For the six 

months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, we originated $177.4 million and $164.3 million in brokered 
loans, respectively.  We recognized net brokering income totaling $841,000 and $844,000 during the six 
months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.   

 
   Our wholly-owned subsidiary, NYMC, originates all of the mortgage loans we retain, sell or broker.  

On mortgages to be sold, we underwrite, process and fund the mortgages originated by NYMC.   
 
   A significant risk to our mortgage lending operations is liquidity risk – the risk that we will not have 

financing facilities and cash available to fund and hold loans prior to their sale or securitization.  We 
maintain committed lending facilities with large banking and investment institutions to reduce this risk.  
On a short-term basis, we finance mortgage loans using warehouse lines of credit and repurchase 
agreements.  Details regarding available financing arrangements and amounts outstanding under those 
arrangements are included in “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below.  
 
Mortgage Portfolio Management  
 

   Prior to the completion of our IPO on June 29, 2004, our operations were limited to the mortgage 
operations described in the preceding section.  Beginning in July 2004, we began to implement our 
business plan of investing in high quality mortgage loan securities.  Although such activity did not 
generate earnings during the six months ended June 30, 2004, the mortgage portfolio will generate a 
substantial portion of our earnings in the future.  As of August 12, 2004, we have invested in $1.0 billion 
of residential mortgage-backed securities.  In managing our investment in a mortgage portfolio, we will: 
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l initially invest in mortgage-backed securities originated by others;  
l 

invest in assets generated primarily from our self-origination of high-quality, single-family, 
residential mortgage loans; 

l operate as a long-term portfolio investor;  
l 

finance the portfolio by issuing mortgage-backed bonds and entering into reverse repurchase 
agreements; and 

l 
generate earnings from the return on our mortgage securities and spread income from the 

mortgage loan portfolio. 
 
   A significant risk to our operations, relating to our portfolio management, is the risk that interest 

rates on our assets will not adjust at the same times or amounts that rates on our liabilities adjust.  Even 
though we retain and invest in ARMs, many of the hybrid ARM loans in our portfolio have fixed rates of 
interest for a period of time ranging from six months to five years.  Our funding costs are generally not 
constant or fixed.  As a result, we use derivative instruments to mitigate the risk of our cost of funding 
increasing or decreasing at a faster rate than the interest on the loans (both those on the balance sheet and 
those that serve as collateral for mortgage securities).  

 
 
 
 

Significance of Estimates and Critical Accounting Policies  
 

   We prepare our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America, (“GAAP”), many of which require the use of estimates, judgments and 
assumptions that affect reported amounts.  These estimates are based, in part, on our judgment and 
assumptions regarding various economic conditions that we believe are reasonable based on facts and 
circumstances existing at the time of reporting.  The results of these estimates affect reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities and accumulated other comprehensive income at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements and the reported amounts of income, expenses and other comprehensive income during the 
periods presented.  The following summarizes the components of our consolidated financial statements 
where understanding accounting policies is critical to understanding and evaluating our reported financial 
results, especially given the significant estimates used in applying the policies.  Changes in the estimates 
and assumptions could have a material effect on these financial statements.  Management has discussed 
the development and selection of these critical accounting estimates with the audit committee of our board 
of directors and the audit committee has reviewed our disclosure.   

 
   Loans Held for Sale.  Loans held for sale represent mortgage loans originated and held pending sale 

to interim and permanent investors.  The mortgage loans are carried at the lower of cost or market value.  
Market value is determined by examining outstanding commitments from investors or current investor 
yield requirements, calculated on the aggregate loan basis, less an estimate of the costs to close the loan, 
less the deferral of fees and points received, plus the deferral of direct origination costs.  Gains or losses 
on sales are recognized at the time title transfers to the investor which is typically concurrent with the 
transfer of the loan files and related documentation and are based upon the difference between the sales 
proceeds from the final investor and the adjusted book value of the loan sold. 
 

   Transfers of Assets.   A transfer of mortgage loans or mortgage securities in which we surrender 
control over the financial assets is accounted for as a sale.  Gains and losses on the assets transferred are 
recognized based on the carrying amount of the financial assets involved in the transfer, allocated between 
the assets transferred and the retained interests, if any, based on their relative fair value at the date of 
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transfer.  To determine fair value, we estimate fair value based on the present value of future expected 
cash flows using management's best estimate of the key assumptions, including credit losses, prepayment 
speeds, forward yield curves, and discount rates commensurate with the risks involved.  When we retain 
control over transferred mortgage loans or mortgage securities (such as under a repurchase agreement), 
the transaction is accounted for as a secured borrowing. 
 

   The following is a description of the methods we have historically used to transfer assets, including 
the related accounting treatment under each method.  
 

• Whole Loan Sales.  Whole loan sales represent loans sold on a servicing released basis wherein the 
servicing rights with respect to the loans are transferred to the purchaser concurrently with the sale 
of the loan. Gains and losses on whole loan sales are recognized in the period the sale occurs and 
we have determined that the criteria for sale treatment has been achieved primarily by the 
surrender of control over the assets transferred.  We generally have an obligation to repurchase 
whole loans sold in circumstances in which the borrower fails to make one of the first three 
payments. Additionally, we are also generally required to repay all or a portion of the premium we 
receive on the sale of whole loans in the event that the loan prepays in its entirety within a period 
of one year after origination.  

 
• Loans and Securities Sold Under Repurchase Agreements.  Repurchase agreements represent legal 

sales of loans or mortgage securities and an agreement to repurchase the loans or mortgage 
securities at a later date. Repurchase agreements are accounted for as secured borrowings because 
the company has not surrendered control of the transferred assets. 

 
Forward Looking Financial Statement Effects 
 

   Beginning with the completion of our acquisition of NYMC and closing of our IPO on June 29, 
2004, we commenced a change in the way we conduct business.  We will continue to originate all types of 
residential mortgage loans and will continue to sell or broker such production to third parties.  However, 
we will also begin to retain selected self-originated, shorter-term, high quality ARM loan production in 
our investment portfolio for subsequent securitization.  We will also invest in investment-grade, shorter-
term ARM securities.  As a result, we believe it is important to describe the differences that an investor 
would expect to see in our future financial statements. 

 
   Mortgage Loans Held for Investment.  We will retain in our portfolio substantially all of the 

adjustable-rate mortgage loans that we originate and that meet our investment criteria and portfolio 
requirements.  We will service loans that we originate and retain in our portfolio through a subservicer.  
Servicing is the function primarily consisting of collecting monthly payments from mortgage borrowers, 
and disbursing those funds to the appropriate loan investors. 

 
   We may also include in our portfolio loans acquired in bulk pools from other originators and 

securities dealers.  Mortgage loans held for investment are recorded net of deferred loan origination fees 
and associated direct costs and are stated at amortized cost.   Mortgage loan origination fees and 
associated direct mortgage loan origination costs on mortgage loans held- in-portfolio are deferred and 
amortized over the life of the loan as an adjustment to yield using the level yield method.  This 
amortization includes the effect of projected prepayments. 
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Interest is recognized as revenue when earned according to the terms of the mortgage loans and 
when, in the opinion of management, it is collectible.  The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued 
when, in management's opinion, the interest is not collectible in the normal course of business, but in no 
case beyond when payment on a loan becomes 90 days delinquent.  Interest collected on loans is 
recognized as income upon receipt. 

 
   When we hold loans for investment, we will record an allowance for probable loan losses.  Our 

portfolio mortgage loans held for investment will be collectively evaluated for impairment as the loans 
will be homogeneous in nature.  We will maintain an allowance for credit losses inherent in the portfolio 
balance sheet.  The allowance will be based upon the assessment of management of various factors 
affecting our mortgage loan portfolio, including current economic conditions, the makeup of the portfolio 
based on credit grade, loan-to-value ratios, delinquency status, historical credit losses, purchased 
mortgage insurance and other factors deemed to warrant consideration.  The allowance will be maintained 
through ongoing provisions charged to operating income and will be reduced by loans that are charged 
off.  Determining the allowance for loan losses is subjective in nature due to the estimation required and 
the potential for imprecision.   
 

   We will separate interest income and expense into two components: "Interest income — loans held 
for sale" and "Interest income — loans held for investment."  Similarly, we will separate interest expense 
into two components: "Interest expense — loans held for sale" and "Interest expense — loans held for 
investment."  We intend to continue to sell all of our fixed-rate loans and record them as "Mortgage loans 
held for sale" which will also include any adjustable-rate loans which we intend to sell.  We will show 
adjustable-rate loans that we retain in our portfolio as "Loans held for investment."   We will record 
borrowings on loans held for sale as "financing arrangements, loans held for sale."  We will record the 
mortgage-backed securities we intend to issue to finance our portfolio loans and the warehouse financing 
of our portfolio loans prior to securitization as "beneficial interests and other borrowings, loans held for 
investment." 
 
New Accounting Policies 
 

   As we implement our business plan of investing in mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities, 
we expect to apply the following critical accounting policies, in addition to those discussed above.  The 
first of these policies — accounting for transfers and servicing of financial assets — relates to our 
proposed financing strategy utilizing on-balance sheet securitizations.  The second relates to our 
management of interest rate risk on a leveraged portfolio of mortgage loans and securities.  The third 
relates to recognition of interest income and impairment on purchased and retained beneficial interests in 
securitized financial assets: 
 

   Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets.  We may regularly securitize mortgage 
loans by transferring mortgage loans to independent trusts which issue securities to investors.  These 
securities are collateralized by the mortgage loans transferred into these independent trusts.  We will 
generally retain interests in all or some of the securities issued by the trusts.  Certain of the securitization 
agreements may require us to repurchase loans tha t are found to have legal deficiencies, subsequent to the 
date of transfer.  The accounting treatment for transfers of assets upon securitization depends on whether 
or not we have surrendered control over the transferred assets.  We will service, through a subservicer, 
loans that we originate and retain in our portfolio. 
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  As we begin to generate and retain a portfolio of loans for securitization, we will comply with the 
provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 140 "Accounting for Transfers and 
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities," or FAS 140, related to each 
securitization.  Depending on the structure of the securitization, it will either be treated as a sale or 
secured financing for financial statement purposes.  We anticipate that our securitizations will be treated 
as secured financings under FAS 140.  Our strategy of retaining on our balance sheet certain mortgage 
loans held for investment and included in our securitization pools will reduce the number of loans NYMC 
sells and, therefore, our total gains on sales of mortgage loans for financial accounting purposes will be 
lower than NYMC has historically recognized. 

 
   Managing Interest Rate Risk.  We may hedge the aggregate risk of interest rate fluctuations with 

respect to our borrowing index.  We generally intend to hedge only the risk related to changes in the 
benchmark interest rate used in the variable rate index, usually a London Interbank Offered Rate, known 
as LIBOR, or a U.S. Treasury rate. 

 
   In order to reduce these risks, we may enter into interest rate swap agreements whereby we would 

receive floating rate payments in exchange for fixed rate payments, effectively converting the borrowing 
to a fixed rate.  We may also enter into interest rate cap agreements whereby, in exchange for a fee, we 
would be reimbursed for interest paid in excess of a certain capped rate. 

 
   To qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, interest rate swaps and caps must meet certain criteria, 

including: 
 

(1) that the items to be hedged expose us to interest rate risk, and 
 

(2) that the interest rate swaps or caps are highly effective in reducing our exposure to interest rate 
risk. 

 
   Correlation and effectiveness of the interest rate swaps and caps are periodically assessed based 

upon a comparison of the relative changes in the fair values or cash flows of the interest rate swaps and 
caps and the items being hedged. 

 
   For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge (meaning hedging 

the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk), the 
effective portion of the gain or loss, and net payments received or made, on the derivative instrument will 
be reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same 
period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings.  The remaining gain or loss on the 
derivative instrument in excess of the cumulative change in the present value of future cash flows of the 
hedged item, if any, will be recognized in current earnings during the period of change. 

 
   With respect to interest rate swaps and caps that have not been designated as hedges, any net 

payments under, or fluctuations in the fair value of, these swaps and caps will be recorded to current 
income. 

 
   Derivative financial instruments contain credit risk to the extent that the institutional counterparties 

may be unable to meet the terms of the agreements.  We expect to minimize this risk by using multiple 
counterparties and limiting our counterparties to major financial institutions with good credit ratings.  In 
addition, we plan to regularly monitor the potential risk of loss with any one party resulting from this type 
of credit risk.  Accordingly, we do not expect any material losses as a result of default by other parties. 
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   Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in 

Securitized Financial Assets.  As previously described herein, we plan to regularly securitize our 
mortgage loans and retain beneficial interests created.  In addition, we may purchase such beneficial 
interests from third parties.  For certain of our purchased and retained beneficial interests in securitized 
financial assets we will follow the guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board Emerging Issues 
Task Force Issue No. 99-20, "Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained 
Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets," or EITF 99-20.  Accordingly, on a quarterly basis, 
when significant changes in estimated cash flows generated from the securitized asset's underlying 
collateral from the cash flows previously estimated occur due to actual prepayment and credit loss 
experience, we will calculate revised yields based on the current amortized cost of the investment 
(including any other-than-temporary impairments recognized to date) and the revised cash flows.  The 
revised yields are then applied prospectively to recognize interest income. 

 
   Additionally, when significant changes in estimated cash flows from the cash flows previously 

estimated occur due to actual prepayment and credit loss experience, and the present value of the revised 
cash flows using the current expected yield is less than the present value of the previously estimated 
remaining cash flows (adjusted for cash receipts during the intervening period), an other-than- temporary 
impairment is deemed to have occurred.  Accordingly, the security is written down to the fair value with 
the resulting change being included in income, and a new cost basis established.  In both instances, the 
original discount or premium is written off when the new cost basis is established.  After taking into 
account the effect of the impairment charge, income is recognized under EITF 99-20, as applicable, using 
the market yield for the security used in establishing the write-down. 

  
 

Risk Management 
 
   Derivative Financial Instruments.  We enter into derivative transactions solely for risk management 

purposes. The decision of whether or not a given transaction (or portion thereof) is hedged is made on a 
case-by-case basis, based on the risks involved and other factors as determined by senior management, 
including the financial impact on income and asset va luation and the restrictions imposed on REIT 
hedging activities by the Internal Revenue Code, among others.  In determining whether to hedge a risk, 
we may consider whether other assets, liabilities, firm commitments and anticipated transactions already 
offset or reduce the risk.  All transactions undertaken as a hedge are entered into with a view towards 
minimizing the potential for economic losses that could be incurred by us. Generally, all derivatives 
entered into are intended to qualify as hedges in accordance with GAAP, unless specifically precluded 
under Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 133 "Accounting for Derivative Instruments 
and Hedging Activities," or FAS 133.  To this end, terms of the hedges are matched closely to the terms of 
hedged items. 

 
   We have also developed risk management programs and processes designed to manage market risk 

associated with normal mortgage banking and mortgage-backed securities investment activities. 
 
   In the normal course of our mortgage loan origination business, we enter into contractual interest 

rate lock commitments, or IRLCs, to extend credit to finance residential mortgages. These commitments, 
which contain fixed expiration dates, become effective when eligible borrowers lock- in a specified 
interest rate within time frames established by our origination, credit and underwriting practices.  Interest 
rate risk arises if interest rates change between the time of the lock-in of the rate by the borrower and the 
sale of the loan.  The IRLCs are cons idered undesignated or free-standing derivatives.  Accordingly, 
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IRLCs are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded to current earnings.  Mark to market 
adjustments on IRLCs are recorded from the inception of the interest rate lock through the date the 
underlying loan is funded.  The fair value of the IRLCs is determined by an estimate of the ultimate gain 
on sale of the loans net of estimated net costs to originate the loan. Beginning in the second quarter of 
2004, the fair value of IRLCs are valued in accordance with SAB 105 which requires the exclusion of 
servicing rights cash flows prior to mortgage loans sold with servicing retained.  The company currently 
sells all of its mortgage loans servicing released.  

 
   To mitigate the effect of the interest rate risk inherent in issuing an IRLC from the lock- in date to 

the funding date of a loan, we generally enter into forward sale loan contracts, or FSLCs.  Since the 
FSLCs are committed prior to mortgage loan funding and thus there is no owned asset to hedge, the 
FSLCs in place prior to the funding of a loan are undesignated derivatives under FAS 133 and are marked 
to market with changes in fair value recorded to current earnings. 

 
   We use other derivative instruments, including treasury, agency or mortgage-backed securities and 

notes forward sale contracts, which are also classified as free-standing, undesignated derivatives and thus 
are recorded at fair value with the changes in fair value recorded to current earnings. 

 
   Once a loan has been funded, our risk management objective for our mortgage loans held for sale is 

to protect earnings from an unexpected charge due to a decline in value of its mortgage loans.  Our 
strategy is to engage in a risk management program involving the designation of FSLCs (the same FSLCs 
entered into at the time of the IRLC) to hedge most of our loans held for sale.  Provided that the FSLCs 
have been designated as qualifying hedges for the funded loans and the notional amount of the forward 
delivery contracts, along with the underlying rate and critical terms of the contracts, are equivalent to the 
unpaid principal amount of the mortgage loans being hedged, the forward delivery contracts effectively 
fix the forward sales price and thereby offset interest rate and price risk to us.  We evaluate this 
relationship quarterly and classify and account for FSLCs which are deemed effective as fair value 
hedges. 

 
   Termination of Hedging Relationships.  We employ a number of risk management monitoring 

procedures that are designed to ensure that the designated hedging relationships are demonstrating, and 
are expected to continue to demonstrate, a high level of effectiveness.  Hedge accounting is discontinued 
on a prospective basis if it is determined that the hedging relationship is no longer highly effective or 
expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value of the hedged item.  Additionally, we 
may elect to de-designate a hedge relationship during an interim period and re-designate upon the 
rebalancing of a hedge profile and the corresponding hedge relationship.  When hedge accounting is 
discontinued, we continue to carry the derivative instruments on our balance sheet at fair value with 
changes in their value recorded to current earnings. 

 
 

Financial Highlights for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2004  
 

 l IPO of 15.0 million shares at $9.00 per share raising approximate net proceeds of $122 million;   
 
l 

Total assets increased to $277.7 million as of June 30, 2004 from $110.1 million as of December 
31, 2003; 

 

 
l 

Record volume of quarterly mortgage originations of $514 million for the three months ended June 
30, 2004. 
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Results of Operations and Financial Condition  
 
   Our results of operations during a given period typically reflect the total volume of loans originated 

and closed by us during that period. The volume of closed loan originations generated by us in any period 
is impacted by a variety of factors. These factors include: 
 

• The demand for new mortgage loans. Reduced demand for mortgage loans causes closed loan 
origination volume to decline. Demand for new mortgage loans is directly impacted by current 
interest rate trends and other economic conditions. Rising interest rates tend to reduce demand for 
new mortgage loans, particularly demand for loan refinancings, and falling interest rates tend to 
increase demand for new mortgage loans, particularly loan refinancings. 

 
• Loan refinancing and home purchase trends.  As discussed above, the volume of loan refinancings 

tends to increase following declines in interest rates and to decrease when interest rates rise. The 
volume of home purchases is also affected by interest rates, although to a lesser extent than 
refinancing volume. Home purchase trends are also affected by other economic changes such as 
inflation, improvements in the stock market, lower unemployment rates and other similar factors. 

 
• Seasonality.  Historically, according to the MBAA, loan originations during late November, 

December, January and February of each year are typically lower than during other months in the 
year due, in part, to inclement weather, fewer business days (due to holidays and the short month 
of February), and the fact that home buyers tend to purchase homes during the warmer months of 
the year. As a result, loan volumes tend to be lower in the first and fourth quarters of a year than in 
the second and third quarters. 

 
• Occasional spikes in volume resulting from isolated events.  Mortgage lenders may experience 

spikes in loan origination volume from time to time due to non-recurring events or transactions. 
For example, we were able to complete an unusually large and non-recurring mass closing of 347 
condominium unit mortgage loans for which we negotiated a bulk end- loan commitment for 
condominium buyers in the Ruppert Homes Project in the first quarter of 2003.  This one time 
event increased our closed loan origination volume during the first quarter of 2003 by over 30%. 

 
   The mortgage banking industry witnessed record levels of closed loan originations beginning in 

mid-2002 and continuing throughout 2003, due primarily to the availability of historically low interest 
rates during that period.  These historically low interest rates caused existing home owners to refinance 
their mortgages at record levels and induced many first-time home buyers to purchase homes and many 
existing home owners to purchase new homes.  We, like most industry participants, enjoyed a record 
increase in our volume of closed loan originations during that period.  During the first quarter of 2004, the 
Federal Reserve Bank of the United States signaled that moderate increases in interest rates were likely to 
occur during and after the second quarter of 2004 and followed up with its first increase in interest rates in 
four years with a 0.25% increase at the end of the second quarter.  This caused many existing and would 
be home owners that had not yet refinanced their mortgages or purchased homes to refinance their 
mortgages or purchase homes in order to take advantage of the favorable available interest rates. 
 

   The June 11, 2004 Mortgage Finance Forecast of the MBAA indicated that closed loan originations 
in the industry for 2003 totaled $3.8 trillion.  The MBAA also forecast in this same report that closed loan 
originations in 2004 will total approximately $2.4 trillion and closed loan originations in 2005 will total 
approximately $1.7 trillion.  This forecast predicts that purchase originations are expected to grow while 
refinancings are expected to decrease during 2004.  Although our origination volumes to date have 
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continued to trend upward, these projected declines in the overall volume of closed loan originations may 
have a negative affect on our loan origination volume and net income.  We believe that our concentration 
on purchase loan originations has caused our loan origination volume to be less susceptible to the 
expected industry-wide decline in origination volume.   

 
   The volume and cost of our loan production is critical to our financial results.  The loans we produce 

generate gains as they are sold or securitized and will serve as collateral for our mortgage securities. The 
cost of our production is also critical to our financial results as it is a significant factor in the gains we 
recognize.  The following table summarizes our loan production for 2004 and 2003.   

 
  Aggregate   
  Principal Average  
 Number Balance Principal Weighted Average 

 of Loans  ($in millions) Balance LTV1 FICO 
2004:      

Second Quarter2      
ARM 810 $257.5 317,846 70 721 
Fixed-rate 1,561   256.5 164,325 78 697 

Total 2,371 $514.0 216,772 74 709 
      

Purchase mortgages 1,092 $273.3 250,221 76 724 
Refinancings 1,279   240.7 188,215 72 692 

Total 2,371 $514.0 216,772 74 709 
      

First Quarter2      
ARM 458 $145.5 317,667 70 703 
Fixed-rate    613   138.0 225,057 71 704 

Total 1,071 $283.5 264,661 71 703 
      

Purchase mortgages 650 $169.3 260,469 75 711 
Refinancings    421   114.2 271,132 64 692 

Total 1,071 $283.5 264,661 71 703 
      
2003:      

Fourth Quarter      
ARM 502 $181.1 360,691 69 708 
Fixed-rate    705   158.7 225,127 70 707 

Total 1,207 $339.8 281,509 70 707 
      

Purchase mortgages 749 $203.2 271,209 75 712 
Refinancings    458   136.6 298,353 61 699 

Total 1,207 $339.8 281,509 70 707 
      

Third Quarter      
ARM 585 $224.1 383,018 68 714 
Fixed-rate 1,062   262.2 246,880 67 707 

Total 1,647 $486.3 295,235 67 711 
      

Purchase mortgages 772 $218.2 282,537 75 717 
Refinancings    875   268.1 306,439 60 706 

Total 1,647 $486.3 295,235 67 711 
      

Second Quarter      
ARM 452 $158.1 349,624 66 691 
Fixed-rate 1,051 254.8 242,478 67 713 

Total 1,503 $412.9 274,700 67 705 
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Purchase mortgages 647 $173.7 268,487 74 691 
Refinancings 856 239.2 279,397 61 715 

Total 1,503 $412.9 274,700 67 705 
      

First Quarter      
ARM 399 $144.1 361,230 70 719 
Fixed-rate    948   217.3 229,203 71 707 

Total 1,347 $361.4 268,311 70 712 
      

Purchase mortgages 845 $208.5 246,756 78 722 
Refinancings    502   152.9 304,590 60 699 

Total 1,347 $361.4 268,311 70 712 
      
1 Loan-to-value calculations are on first lien mortgage loans only. 
2 Beginning near the end of the first quarter of 2003, our volume of FHA loans increased.  Generally, 

FHA loans have lower average balances and FICO scores which are reflected in the statistics 
above.  All FHA loans are currently and will be in the future sold or brokered to third parties. 

 

 
 

   Cash  
 

   We had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $116.0 million at June 30, 2004 versus $4.4 
million at December 31, 2003.  This increase results from our receipt of the net proceeds from our IPO on 
June 29, 2004.  
 

 Loans Held for Sale  
 

   Loans we have originated, but have not yet sold or securitized, are classified as “held-for-sale”.  We 
had loans held for sale of $50.7 million at June 30, 2004.  Loans held for sale represent mortgage loans 
originated and held pending sale to interim and permanent investors and are carried at the lower of cost or 
market value.  We use warehouse lines of credit to finance our held-for-sale loans.  As such, the 
fluctuations in mortgage loans – held-for-sale and short-term borrowings between June 30, 2004 and 
December 31, 2003 are dependent on loans we have originated during the period as well as loans we have 
sold outright. 

 
   Due from Loan Purchasers  
 
   We had amounts due from loan purchasers totaling $101.1 million as of June 30, 2004.  Amounts due 
from loan purchasers are a receivable for the principal and premium due to us for loans that have been 
shipped but for which payment has not yet been received at period end. 
 
   Prepaid and Other Assets  
 
   Prepaid and other assets totaled $7.5 million as of June 30, 2004.  Other assets consist primarily of loans 
held for investment of $4.4 million, amounts due from borrowers of $1.0 million and a receivable from 
the predecessor owners of NYMC for $1.3 million which represented an over-distribution of the estimated 
retained earnings of NYMC as of our IPO date and which was repaid on August 3, 2004 upon final 
quantification of NYMC’s earnings as of the closing of our IPO.   
 
   Liabilities  
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   We have debt outstanding on our financing facilities of $144.6 million as of June 30, 2004 which 
finance our mortgage loans held for sale.  The current weighted average borrowing rate on these financing 
facilities is 1.85%.  We use warehouse lines of credit to finance our held-for-sale loans.  As such, the 
fluctuations in mortgage loans – held-for-sale and short-term borrowings between June 30, 2004 and 
December 31, 2003 are dependent on loans we have originated during the period as well as loans we have 
sold outright. 
 
   Stockholders’ Equity  
 
   Stockholders’ equity at June 30, 2004 was $122.0 million and included $2.4 million of unrealized 
deferred compensation on the issuance of restricted stock and $229,232 of unrealized gain on cash flow 
hedges presented as accumulated other comprehensive loss.  
 
 

Comparison of the Six and Three Months Ended June 30, 2004 to the Six and Three Months Ended 
June 30, 2003. 

 
Net Income 

 
   For the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had a net loss of approximately $367,000 and 
$484,000, respectively, compared with net income of $7.7 million and $4.8 million for the respective 
periods of 2003.  
 
   Our primary sources of revenue are gain on sale of mortgage loans, fees from borrowers, fees earned on 
brokered loans and interest earned on mortgage loans held for sale during the interim period of funding a 
loan to a borrower and the ultimate sale of the loan to a third party.  For the six months ended June 30, 
2004, total revenues decreased approximately 7.8% to $16.6 million from $18.0 million for the same 
period in 2003.  Although loan originations for the six month period ended June 30, 2004 increased to 
$797.4 million from $774.3 million for the same period of 2003, the closing of a non-recurring mass 
closing of 347 condominium mortgage loans for the Ruppert Homes Project in the first quarter of 2003 
favorably skewed the results of our gain on sale revenue in the first half of 2003 relative to the first half of 
2004.  In addition, some of the new branches we assumed from SIB Mortgage Corp., or SIB, in mid-
March of 2004 do not charge closing costs on FHA mortgages, further reducing fee revenue we typically 
would earn on had these loans been other than FHA mortgage loans.  As a result, for the three month 
period ended June 30, 2004, total revenues decreased approximately 8.6% to $9.6 million from $10.5 
million for the same period in 2003, while total loan originations for the three months ended June 30, 
2004 increased  24.5% to $514.0 million from $412.9 million for the same period in 2003.   
 
      For the six months ended June 30, 2004, total expenses increased approximately 65% to $17.0 million 
from $10.3 million for the same period in 2003.  Overall general and administrative expenses were higher 
for the first half of 2004, relative to the first half of 2003, primarily from increased occupancy costs 
associated with NYMC’s relocation to a new corporate headquarters, increased personnel costs associated 
with an expansion of NYMC’s information technology, accounting, operations and marketing 
departments in connection with its initial public offering,  increased personnel, occupancy and 
promotional expenses relating to an assignment and assumption agreement with SIB with regard to eight 
loan origination branches and our hiring of an additional 134 employees in March 2004 — for which we 
incurred expenses with little offsetting revenues due to lag time in closing the new originations associated 
with the assumption of the SIB branches.   For the three months ended June 30, 2004, total expenses 
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increased approximately 77.2% to $10.1 million from $5.7 million for the same period in 2003.  Higher 
expenses were incurred for the three month period ended June 30, 2004 relative to the same period for the 
prior year as a result of a non-cash charge of $1.3 million in compensation expense for the vested portion 
of restricted shares issued in connection with our IPO, increased data processing and software costs for 
new systems and analytical software for the mortgage securities business as well as higher general and 
administrative expenses for the increased staffing and addition of new branch offices. 

  
   Our closed loan originations for the six months ended June 30, 2004 totaled 3,442 loans, a 20.8% 

increase over the 2,850 loans that NYMC closed during the comparable period of 2003. However, as 
measured by principal balance, total closed loan originations for the six months ended June 30, 2004 
increased approximately 3.0% to $797.4 million from $774.3 million during the same period for 2003, 
reflecting a decrease in the average balance of loans originated to approximately $231,700 in 2004 from 
$271,700 during the same period of 2003.  Our closed loan originations in the three months ended June 
30, 2004 totaled 2,371 loans, a 57.8% increase over the 1,503 loans that NYMC closed during the three 
months ended June 30, 2003.  However, as measured by principal balance, total closed loan originations 
for the three months ended June 30, 2004 increased approximately 24.5% to $514.0 million from $412.9 
million during the same period of 2003, reflecting a decrease in the average balance of loans originated to 
approximately $216,800 in 2004 from $274,700 during the same period of 2003.  The increase in loan 
originations during the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2004 is due to increased loan 
origination personnel and branch offices as compared to the same period of 2003.  This decrease in 
average loan balance is attributable primarily to the low average loan balance originated by one of the 
assumed SIB branches which does a relatively high volume of low balance FHA streamline refinance 
loans. 

 
   We do not expect to benefit from historically low interest rates in 2004.  We expect to mitigate the 

predicted declines in loan origination volume across the industry during the remainder of 2004 and 
throughout 2005 by increasing the percentage of market share we capture.   We plan to accomplish this 
increase in market share by increasing our loan origination staff, as we did recent ly when we hired 134 
new employees in connection with our assumption of eight branch offices from SIB at the end of the first 
quarter of 2004 as described above. We cannot assure you, however, that an increase in the number of 
loan origination officers we have will successfully mitigate the decline in loan origination volume that is 
expected to occur as a result of reduced demand for new loans throughout the industry. 

 
Revenues 

 
   Gain on Sales of Mortgage Loans.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had 

gains on sales of mortgage loans of $10.5 million and $6.9 million, respectively, compared to $11.5 
million and $6.8 million for the same periods of 2003.  The 8.7% decrease in the gains on sales of 
mortgage loans for the six months ended June 30, 2004 as compared to the same period of 2003 is 
attributed in part to higher margins on loans originated for the Ruppert Homes Project in 2003 (as a result 
of a predictable closing date and a mass closing, we were able to sell these loans primarily in “mandatory” 
or bulk sales which provides for a higher premium relative to “best effort” or flow sales) and lower fee 
revenue from an increase in FHA mortgage loan production for which we incur closing costs rather than 
the borrower (since our assumption of the SIB branches in March 2004, approximately 15% of our total 
loan originations per month are FHA loans).   

 
   The number of mortgage loans sold during the six months ended June 30, 2004 increased 24.3% to 

2,997 loans from 2,411 mortgage loans sold during the comparable period in 2003. Mortgage loan 
volume, as measured by aggregate principal balance of mortgage loans sold, increased approximately 



  

38 

1.7% to $620.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 from $609.9 million for the comparable 
period in 2003. The number of mortgage loans sold during the three months ended June 30, 2004 
increased 71.3% to 2,152 loans from 1,256 mortgage loans sold during the comparable period in 2003. 
Mortgage loan volume, as measured by aggregate principal balance of mortgage loans sold, increased 
approximately 31.7% to $420.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 from $319.3 million for 
the comparable period in 2003. The increase in mortgage loans sold during the three and six month 
periods ended June 30, 2004 is due to increased loan origination personnel and branch offices as 
compared to the same period of 2003.   

 
   Interest Income.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had interest income of 

$3.1 million and $1.9 million, respectively, compared with interest income of $3.5 million and $2.1 
million for the same periods of 2003.  This decrease was due to a declining average yield due to lower 
prevailing interest rates in 2004 relative to 2003.  For the six months ended June 30, 2004, the average 
interest rate for mortgage loans sold fell approximately 9 basis points to 5.69% from 5.78% for the 
comparable period in 2003, while the average interest rate for mortgage loans sold remained relatively 
static at approximately 5.65% for the three months ended June 30, 2004 versus the same period of 2003. 

   
   Revenue from Brokered Loans.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had 

revenues from brokered loans of $3.0 million and $778,000, respectively, compared to $2.9 million and 
$1.6 million for the same periods in 2003.  The number of brokered loans decreased approximately 11.3% 
to 219 loans for the six months ended June 30, 2004 from 247 loans for the comparable period in 2003.  
The aggregate principal balance of such brokered loans slightly decreased by approximately 0.1% to 
$93.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 from $93.5 million for the comparable period in 
2003.   

 
Expenses 

 
   Salaries, Commissions and Benefits.  Salaries, commissions and associated payroll costs increased 

approximately 76.9% to $6.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 from $3.9 million for the 
comparable period in 2003. The increase was primarily due to an increase of 256 new employees to 509 
employees at the end of June 30, 2004 from 253 employees at the end of June 30, 2003.  New employees 
include loan officers, support staff (information technology, marketing, processing, underwriting and 
closing employees) and additional corporate management hired in connection with the company’s 
evolution to a public REIT.  In addition, for the three months ended June 30, 2004, we recognized 
approximately $1.3 million in non-cash compensation expense related to the vested portion of restricted 
stock granted to our executive officers in conjunction with our IPO. 

 
   Cost of Brokered Loans.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had costs of 

brokered loans of $2.1 million and $835,000, respectively, as compared to $2.0 million and $1.2 million 
for the same periods of 2003, an increase of 5.0% and a decrease of 30.4% for the respective periods.  
These costs correlate to higher brokered loan origination volume and revenues earned from brokered 
loans. 

  
   Interest Expense.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had interest expense of 

$1.8 million and $1.2 million, respectively, compared with interest expense of $1.5 million and $807,000 
for the same periods of 2003, an increase of 20.0% and 48.7% for the respective periods.   This increase 
was due to slightly increased originations of loans held for sale offset by slightly lower prevailing interest 
rates during the periods.  The average monthly outstanding balance of financing facilities for the six 
months ended June 30, 2004 was $128.7 million at an average interest rate of 1.85% as compared to an 
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average monthly outstanding balance of $114.7 million at an average rate of 1.89% for the comparable 
period in 2003.  Our financing facilities are indexed at LIBOR. The lower average rate in 2004 is due to 
lower spread negotiated on new and renewed facilities during the year and two new $100 million facilities 
which have a substantially lower spread over the index than those facilities in place at June 30, 2003. 

 
   Occupancy and Equipment Expense.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had 

occupancy and equipment expense of $1.5 million and $876,000, respectively, compared to $728,000 and 
$399,000 for the same periods of 2003, an increase of 106.0% and 119.5% for the respective periods.   
The increase reflects the expansion of new origination offices to 30 as of June 30, 2004 from 17 as of 
June 30, 2003 and the significant expansion and relocation of NYMC's principal offices in New York City 
in July 2003 and the recent relocation and expansion of our Astoria, Queens office in June 2004. 

 
   Marketing and Promotion Expense.   During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had 

marketing and promotion expense of $1.3 million and $812,000, respectively, compared to $424,000 and 
$220,000 for the same periods of 2003, an increase of 206.6% and 269.1% for the respective periods.   
This increase was primarily due to increased marketing and promotion expenses incurred to promote 
newly-opened loan origination offices and related newly-hired loan origination personnel.  In addition, in 
conjunction with our assumption of the SIB branches, we undertook a significant direct mail campaign to 
market our loan products. 

 
   Data Processing and Communication Expense.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 

2004, we had data processing and communication expense of $621,000 and $453,000, respectively, 
compared to $293,000 and $159,000 for the same periods of 2003, an increase of 111.9% and 184.9% for 
the respective periods.   This increase was primarily due to increased personnel and expenses related to 
the opening of new origination offices. In addition, since the period ended June 30, 2003, NYMC entered 
into leases for its new principal office phone system and high speed office printers.  During the second 
quarter of 2004, we incurred additional costs related to analytical and market research software and 
systems in order to accommodate our mortgage securities business and to upgrade our current loan 
accounting software. 

 
   Office Supplies and Expense.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had data 

office supplies and expense of $647,000 and $429,000, respectively, compared to $382,000 and $224,000 
for the same periods of 2003, an increase of 69.4% and 91.5% for the respective periods.   This increase 
was primarily a result of the increase in personnel and new origination offices, as well as the supplies 
needed to accommodate the bulk hiring of 134 new employees formerly with SIB as well as other 
incremental employees hired during the second quarter of 2004. 

 
   Professional Fees Expense.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had 

professional fees expense of $654,000 and $401,000, respectively, compared to $415,000 and $180,000 
for the same periods of 2003, an increase of 57.6% and 122.8% for the respective periods.   This increase 
was primarily due to increases in dues, licenses and permits in states where NYMC has a new presence 
and the use of regulatory counsel to assist in the structuring and licensing of our various affiliates in 
certain states in conjunction with our IPO. 

 
   Travel and Entertainment Expense.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we had 

travel and entertainment expense of $305,000 and $117,000, respectively, compared to $323,000 and 
$144,000 for the same periods of 2003, a decrease of 5.6% and 18.8% for the respective periods.   The 
decrease was primarily due to new expense guidelines and less travel for conventions and other activities. 
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   Depreciation and Amortization Expense.  During the six and three months ended June 30, 2004, we 
had depreciation and amortization expense of $206,000 and $103,000, respectively, compared to 
$136,000 and $68,000 for the same periods of 2003, an increase of 51.5% and 51.5% for the respective 
periods.   This increase was primarily due to opening of new origination offices and increased investments 
in computer networks and systems. 

 
   Loss on sale of securities.  During the six and three month period ended June 30, 2004, we incurred 

a loss on the sale of marketable securities of approximately $176,000 as compared to no gain or loss on 
the sale of marketable securities during the same periods of 2003.  The loss was due to the disposition of 
securities in anticipation of our IPO so as to avoid owning a legacy portfolio of securities which (i) do not 
meet our new investment guidelines, (ii) are equity securities, (iii) cannot be appropriately hedged or (iv) 
do not generate qualified REIT income. 

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
 

   Since inception, we have not maintained any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial   
partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, established 
for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited 
purposes. Further, we have not guaranteed any obligations of unconsolidated entities nor do we have any 
commitment or intent to provide additional funding to any such entities.  Accordingly, we are not 
materially exposed to any market, credit, liquidity or financing risk that could arise if we had engaged in 
such relationships.  
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 

   Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including ongoing 
commitments to repay borrowings, fund and maintain investments, pay dividends to our stockholders and 
other general business needs.  We recognize the need to have funds available for our operating businesses 
and our investment in mortgage loans until the settlement or sale of mortgages with us or with other 
investors.  It is our policy to have adequate liquidity at all times to cover normal cyclical swings in 
funding availability and mortgage demand and to allow us to meet abnormal and unexpected funding 
requirements.  We plan to meet liquidity through normal operations with the goal of avoiding unplanned 
sales of assets or emergency borrowing of funds.  

 
   We believe our existing cash balances and funds available under our credit facilities and cash flows 

from operations will be sufficient for our liquidity requirements for at least the next 12 months.  Unused 
borrowing capacity will vary as the market values of our securities vary.  Our investments and assets will 
also generate liquidity on an ongoing basis through mortgage principal and interest payments, pre-
payments and net earnings held prior to payment of dividends.  Should our liquidity needs ever exceed 
these on-going or immediate sources of liquidity discussed above, we believe that our securities could be 
sold to raise additional cash in most circumstances.  We do, however, expect to expand our mortgage 
origination operations and may have to arrange for additional sources of capital through the issuance of 
debt or equity or additional bank borrowings to fund that expansion.  We currently have no commitments 
for any additional financings, and we cannot ensure that we will be able to obtain any additional financing 
at the times required and on terms and conditions acceptable to us.   

 
   We generally seek to borrow between eight and 12 times the amount of our equity.  Our leverage 

ratio, defined as total financing facilities divided by total stockholders’ equity, at June 30, 2004 was 1.2 
times. We closed our IPO on June 29, 2004 and received net proceeds of approximately $122 million.  At 
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June 30, 2004, we had not fully levered our initial investment portfolio to within our target range of eight 
to 12 times the amount of our equity.  As a result, the total amount of investment in mortgage loans and 
mortgage-backed securities and corresponding repurchase agreement liabilities as of June 30, 2004 were 
lower than they will be once our portfolio is fully levered through additional repurchase agreement 
liabilities and related mortgage-backed security purchases.  

 
   To originate a mortgage loan, we may draw against a $100 million reverse repurchase facility with 

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital, LLC, or CSFB, and a $50 million warehouse facility led by 
HSBC Bank USA, or HSBC.  These facilities are secured by the mortgage loans owned by us and by 
certain of our other assets. Advances drawn under these facilities bear interest at rates that vary depending 
on the type of mortgage loans securing the advances.  These facilities are subject to sub- limits, advance 
rates and terms that vary depending on the type of mortgage loans securing these financings and the ratio 
of our liabilities to our tangible net worth.  As of June 30, 2004, the aggregate outstanding balance under 
these facilities was $118.6 million and the aggregate maximum amount available for additional 
borrowings was $31.4 million. These agreements are not committed facilities and may be terminated at 
any time at the discretion of the counterparties. 

 
   On September 1, 2003, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement, also known as a gestation 

facility, with Greenwich Capital Financial Products, Inc., or Greenwich Capital.  Under this agreement, 
through which we can access up to $25 million, Greenwich Capital purchases a closed loan from us prior 
to the time we sell the loan to a third party purchaser, and pays down the portion of the facility used to 
fund the loan.  The purchase price for loans that Greenwich Capital purchases from us equals 98% of the 
third party purchaser's purchase price, subject to a cap equal to 98% of the loan amount.  The ultimate 
purchaser of the loan then purchases the loan directly from Greenwich Capital, as opposed to us, and 
Greenwich Capital pays us a completion fee equal to the difference between the purchase price paid by 
the third party and the purchase price paid by Greenwich Capital plus a net carry adjustment equal to the 
accrued interest on the loan due to us less interest due to Greenwich Capital for the number of days that 
Greenwich Capital owned the loan prior to re-selling the loan to the third party purchaser. Our cost 
associated with the interim sale of our loans to Greenwich Capital as described above is approximately 
equal to interest on the amounts funded by Greenwich Capital at a floating rate of one-month London 
Interbank Offering Rate, or LIBOR, plus 1.25% during the period Greenwich Capital holds the loans.  
Typically, it takes between five and 60 days to sell a loan to a third party purchaser.  The Greenwich 
Capital gestation facility allows us to accelerate the sale of our mortgage loan inventory, thereby freeing 
up borrowing capacity under our credit facilities used to fund new loan originations during that interim 
period from funding to sale.  This excess borrowing capacity is an important source of liquidity for us at 
times when we are nearing our borrowing capacity under our credit facilities used to fund new loan 
originations.  The combined capacity available under this gestation facility with Greenwich Capital is $25 
million, of which $23.4 million was available at June 30, 2004.  This agreement is not a committed 
facility and may be terminated at any time at the discretion of Greenwich Capital. 

 
   In addition to these three facilities, on January 9, 2004, we entered into a $100 million master loan 

and security agreement with Greenwich Capital.  Under this agreement, Greenwich Capital provides 
financing to us for the origination or acquisition of certain mortgage loans, which then will be sold to 
third parties or contributed for future securitization to one or more trusts or other entities sponsored by us 
or an affiliate. We will repay advances under this credit facility with a portion of the proceeds from the 
sale of all mortgage-backed securities issued by the trust or other entity, along with a portion of the 
proceeds resulting from permitted whole loan sales.  Advances under this facility bear interest at a 
floating rate initially equal to LIBOR plus 0.90%. Advances under this facility are subject to lender 
approval of the mortgage loans intended for origination or acquisition, advance rates and the then ratio of 
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our liabilities to our tangible net worth.  This facility is not a committed facility and may be terminated at 
any time at the discretion of Greenwich Capital. As of June 30, 2004, the outstanding balance of this 
facility was $26.0 million with the maximum amount available for additional borrowings of $74 million. 
 

   The documents governing these facilities contain a number of compensating balance requirements 
and restrictive financial and other covenants that, among other things, require us to maintain a maximum 
ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, of 20 to 1 in the case of the CSFB facility, 15 to 1 in the case 
of the HSBC facility, 20 to 1 in the case of the Greenwich Capital gestation facility and 20 to 1 in the case 
of the Greenwich Capital facility, as well as to comply with applicable regulatory and investor 
requirements. The Company is in compliance with all such covenants as of June 30, 2004. The 
agreements also contain covenants limiting the ability of our subsidiaries to: 
 

• transfer or sell assets;  
 

• create liens on the collateral; or  
 

• incur additional indebtedness, without obtaining the prior consent of the lenders, which consent 
may not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
   These limits may in turn restrict our ability to pay cash or stock dividends on our stock. In addition, 

under our warehouse facilities, we cannot continue to finance a mortgage loan that we hold through the 
warehouse facility if: 
 

• the loan is rejected as "unsatisfactory for purchase" by the ultimate investor and has exceeded its 
permissible warehouse period which varies by facility; 

 
• we fail to deliver the applicable note, mortgage or other documents evidencing the loan within the 

requisite time period; 
 

• the underlying property that secures the loan has sustained a casualty loss in excess of 5% of its 
appraised value; or 

 
• the loan ceases to be an eligible loan (as determined pursuant to the warehouse facility agreement). 

 
   We expect that these credit facilities will be sufficient to meet our capital and financing needs during 

the next twelve months. The balances of these facilities fluctuate based on the timing of our loan closings 
(at which point we may draw upon the facilities) and the near-term subsequent sale of these loans to third 
parties or the alternative financing thereof through repurchase agreements or, in the future, securitizations 
for mortgage loans we intend to retain (at which point these facilities are paid down). The current 
availability under these facilities and our current and projected levels of loan origination volume are 
consistent with our historic ability to manage our pipeline of mortgage loans, the subsequent sale thereof 
and the related pay down of the facilities. 
 

   As of June 30, 2004, our aggregate warehouse and reverse repurchase facility borrowings under 
these facilities were $144.6 million.  The average monthly balance of these borrowings during the six 
months ended June 30, 2004 was $128.2 million at an average annual interest rate of approximately 
1.85%.   
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Our financing arrangements are short-term facilities secured by the underlying investment in 
residential mortgage loans, the value of which may move inversely with changes in interest rates.  A 
decline in the market value of our investments in the future may limit our ability to borrow under these 
facilities or result in lenders requiring additional collateral or initiating margin calls under our repurchase 
agreements.  As a result, we could be required to sell some of our investments under adverse market 
conditions in order to maintain liquidity.  If such sales are made at prices lower than the amortized costs 
of such investments, we will incur losses. 
 

   Since completion of our IPO, we have negotiated additional warehouse facilities and financings of 
securities through reverse repurchase agreements.  These financing arrangements have been provided by 
multiple commercial and investment banks.  As of August 5, 2004, we have outstanding reverse 
repurchase facilities for $791.1 million with six different institutions.  These reverse repurchase 
agreements have terms that will vary in size, advance rates, interest spreads, duration and other 
characteristics depending on the nature of the underlying collateral in the program. We have total reverse 
repurchase arrangements available to us totaling $4.1 billion through 20 different counterparties to finance 
our mortgage loan securities. 
 

   Our ability to originate loans depends in large part on our ability to sell the mortgage loans we 
originate at cost or for a premium in the secondary market so that we may generate cash proceeds to repay 
borrowings under our warehouse facilities, reverse repurchase agreement and gestation facility.  The 
value of our loans depends on a number of factors, including: 
 

• interest rates on our loans compared to market interest rates;  
 

• the borrower credit risk classification;  
 

• loan-to-value ratios, loan terms, underwriting and documentation; and 
 

• general economic conditions.  
 

   We make certain representations and warranties, and are subject to various affirmative and negative 
financial and other covenants, under the agreements covering the sale of our mortgage loans regarding, 
among other things, the loans' compliance with laws and regulations, their conformity with the ultimate 
investors' underwriting standards and the accuracy of information.  In the event of a breach of these 
representations, warranties or covenants or in the event of an early payment default, we may be required 
to repurchase the loans and indemnify the loan purchaser for damages caused by that breach.  We have 
implemented strict procedures to ensure quality control and conformity to underwriting standards and 
minimize the risk of being required to repurchase loans.  We have been required to repurchase loans we 
have sold from time to time; however, these repurchases have not had a material impact on our results of 
operations. 
 

   We intend to make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the various requirements to 
maintain our REIT status and to minimize or avoid corporate income tax and the nondeductible excise 
tax.  However, differences in timing between the recognition of REIT taxable income and the actual 
receipt of cash could require us to sell assets or to borrow funds on a short-term basis to meet the REIT 
distribution requirements and to avoid corporate income tax and the nondeductible excise tax. 
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Certain of our assets may generate substantial mismatches between REIT taxable income and 
available cash. These assets could include mortgage-backed securities we hold that have been issued at a 
discount and require the accrual of taxable income in advance of the receipt of cash.  As a result, our 
REIT taxable income may exceed our cash available for distribution and the requirement to distribute a 
substantial portion of our net taxable income could cause us to: 
 

• sell assets in adverse market conditions;  
 

• borrow on unfavorable terms; or  
 

• distribute amounts that would otherwise be invested in future acquisitions, capital expenditures or 
repayment of debt 

 
in order to comply with the REIT distribution requirements.  
 
Inflation 
 

   For the periods presented herein, inflation has been relatively low and we believe that inflation has 
not had a material effect on our results of operations.  The impact of inflation is primarily reflected in the 
increased costs of our operations.  Virtually all our assets and liabilities are financial in nature.  Our 
consolidated financial statements and corresponding notes thereto have been prepared in accordance with 
GAAP, which require the measurement of financial position and operating results in terms of historical 
dollars without considering the changes in the relative purchasing power of money over time due to 
inflation.  As a result, interest rates and other factors influence our performance far more than inflation.  
Inflation affects our operations primarily through its effect on interest rates, since interest rates typically 
increase during periods of high inflation and decrease during periods of low inflation.  During periods of 
increasing interest rates, demand for mortgages and a borrower’s ability to qualify for mortgage financing 
in a purchase transaction may be adversely affected.  During periods of decreasing interest rates, 
borrowers may prepay their mortgages, which in turn may adversely affect our yield and subsequently the 
value of our portfolio of mortgage assets. 



  

45 

 
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 

   Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in interest rates, credit spreads, foreign 
currency exchange rates, commodity prices and equity prices.  As we are invested solely in U.S.-dollar 
denominated instruments, primarily residential mortgage instruments, and our borrowings are also 
domestic and U.S. dollar denominated, we are not subject to foreign currency exchange, or commodity 
and equity price risk; the primary market risk that we are exposed to is interest rate risk and its related 
ancillary risks.  Interest rate risk is highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary and 
tax policies, domestic and international economic and political considerations and other factors beyond 
our control.  All of our market risk sensitive assets, liabilities and related derivative positions are for non-
trading purposes only. 
 

Interest Rate Risk 
 

   Our primary interest rate exposure relates to the portfolio of adjustable-rate mortgage loans and 
mortgage-backed securities we acquire, as well as our variable-rate borrowings and related interest rate 
swaps and caps.  Interest rate risk is defined as the sensitivity of our current and future earnings to interest 
rate volatility, variability of spread relationships, the difference in re-pricing intervals between our assets 
and liabilities and the effect that interest rates may have on our cash flows, especially prepayment speeds 
on our residential mortgage related assets. 
 

   Changes in the general level of interest rates can affect our net interest income, which is the 
difference between the interest income earned on interest earning assets and our interest expense incurred 
in connection with our interest bearing debt and liabilities.  Changes in interest rates can also affect, 
among other things, our ability to originate and acquire loans and securities, the value of our loans, 
mortgage pools and mortgage-backed securities, and our ability to realize gains from the resale and 
settlement of such originated loans. 
 

   As of June 30, 2004, a 100 basis point change in short-term interest rates would affect our annual 
earnings and cash flows by no more than $1.5 million. 
 

   While we have not experienced any significant credit losses, in the event of a significant rising 
interest rate environment and/or economic downturn, mortgage and loan defaults may inc rease and result 
in credit losses that would adversely affect our liquidity and operating results.  This risk will be magnified 
following the offering as we build our portfolio of adjustable-rate mortgage loans. 
 

   Interest rate changes may also impact our net book value as our securities, certain mortgage loans 
and related hedge derivatives are marked-to-market each quarter.  Generally, as interest rates increase, the 
value of our fixed income investments, such as mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities, decreases 
and as interest rates decrease, the value of such investments will increase.  We seek to hedge to some 
degree changes in value attributable to changes in interest rates by entering into interest rate swaps and 
other derivative instruments. In general, we would expect that, over time, decreases in value of our 
portfolio attributable to interest rate changes will be offset to some degree by increases in value of our 
interest rate swaps, and vice versa.  However, the relationship between spreads on securities and spreads 
on swaps may vary from time to time, resulting in a net aggregate book value increase or decline.  
However, unless there is a material impairment in value that would result in a payment not being received 
on a security or loan, changes in the book value of our portfolio will not directly affect our recurring 
earnings or our ability to make a distribution to you. 
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   In order to minimize the negative impacts of changes in interest rates on earnings and capital, we 

closely monitor our asset and liability mix and utilize interest rate swaps and caps, subject to the 
limitations imposed by the REIT qualification tests. 
 

   Movements in interest rates can pose a major risk to us in either a rising or declining interest rate 
environment.  We depend on substantial borrowings to conduct our business.  These borrowings are all 
made at variable interest rate terms that will increase as short term interest rates rise.  Additionally, when 
interest rates rise, loans held for sale and any applications in process with interest rate lock commitments, 
or IRLCs, decrease in value.  To preserve the value of such loans or applications in process with IRLCs, 
we may enter into forward sale loan contracts, or FSLCs, to be settled at future dates with fixed prices. 
 

   When interest rates decline, loan applicants may withdraw their open applications on which we have 
issued an IRLC.  In those instances, we may be required to purchase loans at current market prices to 
fulfill existing FSLCs, thereby incurring losses upon sale.  We monitor our mortgage loan pipeline closely 
and on occasion may choose to renegotiate locked loan terms with a borrower to prevent withdrawal of 
open applications and mitigate the associated losses. 
 

   In the event that we do not deliver into the FSLCs or exercise our option contracts, the instruments 
can be settled on a net basis.  Net settlement entails paying or receiving cash based upon the change in 
market value of the existing instrument. All FSLCs and option contracts to buy securities are to be 
contractually settled within six months of the balance sheet date. FSLCs and options contracts for 
individual loans generally must be settled within 60 days. 
 

   Our hedging transactions using derivative instruments also involve certain additional risks such as 
counterparty credit risk, the enforceability of hedging contracts and the risk that unanticipated and 
significant changes in interest rates will cause a significant loss of basis in the contract.  The 
counterparties to our derivative arrangements are major financial institutions and securities dealers that 
are well capitalized with high credit ratings and with which we may also have other financial 
relationships.  While we do not anticipate nonperformance by any counterparty, we are exposed to 
potential credit losses in the event the counterparty fails to perform.  Our exposure to credit risk in the 
event of default by a counterparty is the difference between the value of the contract and the current 
market price.  There can be no assurance that we will be able to adequately protect against the foregoing 
risks and will ultimately realize an economic benefit that exceeds the related expenses incurred in 
connection with engaging in such hedging strategies. 
 

Credit Spread Exposure 
 

   The mortgage-backed securities we will own are also subject to spread risk.  The majority of these 
securities will be adjustable-rate securities valued based on a market credit spread to U.S. Treasury 
security yields. In other words, their value is dependent on the yield demanded on such securities by the 
market based on their credit relative to U.S. Treasury securities.  Excessive supply of such securities 
combined with reduced demand will generally cause the market to require a higher yield on such 
securities, resulting in the use of a higher or wider spread over the benchmark rate (usually the applicable 
U.S. Treasury security yield) to value such securities.  Under such conditions, the value of our securities 
portfolio would tend to decline. Conversely, if the spread used to value such securities were to decrease or 
tighten, the value of our securities portfolio would tend to increase.  Such changes in the market value of 
our portfolio may affect our net equity, net income or cash flow directly through their impact on 
unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale securities, and therefore our ability to realize gains on such 
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securities, or indirectly through their impact on our ability to borrow and access capital. 
 

   Furthermore, shifts in the U.S. Treasury yield curve, which represents the market's expectations of 
future interest rates, would also affect the yield required on our securities and therefore their value. This 
would have similar effects on our portfolio and our financial position and results of operations as a change 
in spreads would. 
 

 
Fair Values 

 
   For certain of the financial instruments that we own, fair values will not be readily available since 

there are no active trading markets for these instruments as characterized by current exchanges between 
willing parties.  Accordingly, fair values can only be derived or estimated for these investments using 
various valuation techniques, such as computing the present value of estimated future cash flows using 
discount rates commensurate with the risks involved.  However, the determination of estimated future 
cash flows is inherently subjective and imprecise.  Minor changes in assumptions or estimation 
methodologies can have a material effect on these derived or estimated fair values.  These estimates and 
assumptions are indicative of the interest rate environments as of June 30, 2004 and do not take into 
consideration the effects of subsequent interest rate fluctuations. 
 

   We note that the values of our investments in mortgage-backed securities, and in derivative 
instruments, primarily interest rate hedges on our debt, will be sensitive to changes in market interest 
rates, interest rate spreads, credit spreads and other market factors.  The value of these investments can 
vary and has varied materially from period to period.  Historically, the values of our mortgage loan 
portfolio have tended to vary inversely with those of its derivative instruments. 
 

   The following describes the methods and assumptions we use in estimating fair values of our 
financial instruments: 
 

   Fair value estimates are made as of a specific point in time based on estimates using present value or 
other valuation techniques. These techniques involve uncertainties and are significantly affected by the 
assumptions used and the judgments made regarding risk characteristics of various financial instruments, 
discount rates, estimates of future cash flows, future expected loss experience and other factors. 
 

  Changes in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates and the resulting fair values. 
Derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in many 
cases, could not be realized in an immediate sale of the instrument. Also, because of differences in 
methodologies and assumptions used to estimate fair values, the fair values used by us should not be 
compared to those of other companies. 
 

   The fair value of commitments to fund with agreed upon rates are estimated using the fees and rates 
currently charged to enter into similar agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of the 
agreements and the present creditworthiness of the counterparties. For fixed rate loan commitments, fair 
value also considers the difference between current market interest rates and the existing committed rates. 
 

   The fair value of commitments to deliver mortgages is estimated using current market prices for 
dealer or investor commitments relative to our existing positions. 
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 

   Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We carried out an evaluation, with the 
participation of management, including our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, of 
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by this report.  Based upon that 
evaluation, our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure 
controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information relating to our 
company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in our periodic SEC filings.  
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 
30, 2004 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over 
financial reporting.  
 



  

49 

PART II-OTHER INFORMATION  
 
ITEM 1.  
 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  
 

   From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. We do 
not believe that any of our current legal proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material 
adverse effect on our operations or financial condition.  
 
Item 2. Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds 
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 
 

   In consideration of our acquisition of 100% of the limited liability company interests in NYMC, we 
issued 2,750,000 shares of common stock to the members of NYMC on June 29, 2004 concurrently with 
the closing of our IPO.  Of the 2,750,000 shares, 100,000 shares in the aggregate are being held in escrow 
through December 31, 2004 and will be available to satisfy any indemnification claims we may have 
against the contributors of the NYMC membership interests under the contribution agreement between us 
and the contributors during the escrow period for losses we incur as a result of defaults on any of the 
residential mortgage loans originated by NYMC and closed prior to the completion of our IPO.  The 
2,750,000 shares were issued in transactions that were exempt from registration under Section 4(2) of the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  The shares of common stock we issued to the members of NYMC in 
exchange for their contributed ownership interests in NYMC had an aggregate value of $24,750,00 based 
on our $9.00 per share IPO price. 
 

   In connection with restricted stock awards granted pursuant to our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, we 
issued 412,125 shares of common stock to our directors and executive officers on June 29, 2004 upon 
completion of our IPO.  Each of the shares of restricted stock issued to our directors and executive 
officers are subject to a lock-up agreement restricting any sale, transfer or other disposition of these shares 
for 180 days following June 29, 2004.  These shares were issued in transactions that were exempt from 
any registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  The 412,125 shares of 
restricted stock awarded to our directors and executive officers had an aggregate value of $3,709,125 
based on our $9.00 per share IPO price.  On July 20, 2004, the shares of restricted stock issued to our 
directors and executive officers were registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to 
a registration statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-117524).  We will not receive any proceeds from the 
sale of these shares of restricted stock. 
 
Use of Proceeds 
 

   Pursuant to a registration statement declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on June 23, 2004 (File No. 333-111668), we issued and sold 15.0 million shares of our common stock, par 
value $0.01 per share, in our IPO.  The managing underwriters were Friedman, Billings & Ramsey & Co., 
Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and RBC Capital Markets Corporation.  The aggregate offering price for 
the 15.0 million shares was $135.0 million based on a price to the public of $9.00 per share.  We paid an 
underwriting discount of approximately $9.45 million.  On June 29, 2004, our IPO closed and we 
received net proceeds of approximately $122.0 million from the sale, reflecting the aggregate offering 
price of $135.0 million less an underwriting discount of approximately $9.5 million and other expenses 
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totaling approximately $3.5 million of which approximately $400,000 was paid to the underwriters for 
reimbursement of certain expenses in connection with the IPO. 
 

   As of June 30, 2004, we had not used any of the net proceeds from our IPO.  We intend to use the 
net proceeds as follows: 
 

• approximately $14.0 million to cause NYMC to repay promissory notes issued to two former 
members of NYMC; 

• approximately $100.0 million to purchase on a leverage basis an initial portfolio of residential 
mortgage-backed securities that are guaranteed by a government sponsored entity or rated 
investment grade; and 

• approximately $8.0 million for general corporate purposes, including working capital and potential 
future acquisitions. 

 
   None of the expenses or uses of proceeds were direct or indirect payments to any directors, officers 

or general partners of the issuer or their associates or to persons owning 10 percent or more of any class of 
our equity securities of the issuer or to our affiliates. 
 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities 
 
None 
 
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  
 
None 
 
Item 5. Other Information 
 
None 
 
Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

51 

(a) Exhibits 
 
 

No.  Description 
31.1  Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d-

14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

31.2 Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

31.3  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d-14(a) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.1  Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officers pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the 
liability of that section. Further, this exhibit shall not be deemed to be 
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.). 

32.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (This 
exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of that 
section. Further, this exhibit shall not be deemed to be incorporated by 
reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.). 

 
(b) Reports on Form 8-K 
 

   The following Current Reports on Form 8-K were filed or furnished, as noted in the applicable 
Form 8-K, during the second quarter of 2004. 
 

1. Report on Form 8-K filed pursuant to Item 5 and Item 7 regarding a press release announcing the 
pricing of the Company’s initial public offering and the execution of an underwriting agreement 
entered into by the Company in connection with the Company’s initial public offering, dated 
June 25, 2004. 
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SIGNATURES 
 
 
 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.   
 
 
 
 
 
Date: August 16, 2004     
 

 
 Steven B. Schnall 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
 
 
 
Date: August 16, 2004     

 
 David A. Akre 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: August 16, 2004     

 
 Michael I. Wirth 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer 
 
 



 

EXHIBIT INDEX 
 
 

No.  Description 
31.1  Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d-

14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

31.2  Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

31.3  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d-14(a) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.1  Certification of Co-Chief Executive Officers pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the 
liability of that section. Further, this exhibit shall not be deemed to be 
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.). 

32.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (This 
exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of that 
section. Further, this exhibit shall not be deemed to be incorporated by 
reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.). 
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Exhibit 31.1 
CERTIFICATION 

 
I, Steven B. Schnall, certify that: 
 
 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of New York Mortgage Trust, Inc.; 
 
 2. Based on my knowledge, this  report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 
 
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, 
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 
 
 4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) for the registrant and have: 
 

 (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under its supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly 
during the period in which this report is being prepared; 
 
 (b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in 
this report its conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end 
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 
 (c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
 5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of 
trustees (or persons performing the equivalent function): 
 

 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant's internal controls over financial reporting. 
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Date: August 16, 2004     
 
 Steven B. Schnall 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 31.2 
CERTIFICATION 

 
I, David A. Akre, certify that: 
 
 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of New York Mortgage Trust, Inc.; 
 
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 
 
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, 
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 
 
 4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) for the registrant and have: 
 

 (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under its supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly 
during the period in which this report is being prepared; 
 
 (b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in 
this report its conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end 
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 
 (c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
 5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of int ernal 
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of 
trustees (or persons performing the equivalent function): 
 

 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant's internal controls over financial reporting. 
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Date: August 16, 2004     
 
 David A. Akre 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 31.3 
CERTIFICATION 

 
I, Michael I. Wirth, certify that: 
 
 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of New York Mortgage Trust, Inc.; 
 
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 
 
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, 
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 
 
 4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) for the registrant and have: 
 

 (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under its supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly 
during the period in which this report is being prepared; 
 
 (b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in 
this report its conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end 
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 
 
 (c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
 5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of 
trustees (or persons performing the equivalent function): 
 

 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant's internal controls over financial reporting. 
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Date: August 16, 2004     

 
 Michael I. Wirth 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer 
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EXHIBIT 32.1 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
 
 In connection with the Quarterly Report of New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended June 30, 2004, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 
"Report"), we, Steven B. Schnall and David A. Akre, Co-Chief Executive Officers of the Company, certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 
 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended; and 
 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company. 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will 
be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
 
 
 
 
Date: August 16, 2004     

 
 Steven B. Schnall 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
 
        

 
 David A. Akre 
Co-Chief Executive Officer 
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EXHIBIT 32.2 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
 

 In connection with the Quarterly Report of New York Mortgage Trust, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended June 30, 2004, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 
"Report"), I, Michael I. Wirth, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, 
as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 
 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and 
 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company. 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will 
be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
 
                                  
 
 
Date: August 16, 2004     

 
 Michael I. Wirth 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer 

 
 
 
 


